WAR HISTORY FOR ERROL GREEN

Errol Green enlisted 14.10.1940

Embarked for Canada 22.2.41 from Sydney arriving 16.3.41
Awarded flying badge 23.5.41 arriving in United Kingdom 17.7.41
statioed at Oakington Squadron 7 Bomber Command




ERROL GREEN SERVED IN THE 15™ LIGHTHORSE
REGIMENT IN MACLEAN NEW SOUTH WALES FROM

NOVEMBER 1936 ( AGED 20)- 14.10.1940 (AGED 24)
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“ ERROL'S family as a child:

Great Grandmother Grace, Mother, uncles, aunts and cousins.
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Bomber Command No.7 Squadron
—

The Wartime Memories Project - The Second World War

Early March 2013 | discovered Bornber Command website — The Wartime Memaories Project- The Second World \War.
They were wanting stories to be retold.. | had no story but questions - | thought if | ask if anyone knew anything about
Errol Green... it was now almost 70 years after war ended, maybe someone might read it in Bomber Command in No. 7

Squadron Enguiries and have some information... That was my hoge...Errol had died almost 15 years ago, | felt |
didn’t understand him but was willing to journey to find his war roots.

F/Lt. Errol Edward Green- 7 Squadron. Information from Canberra War Memorial.

In a group poertrait of members of the RAAF at RCAF Station Uplands taken after the men received their
wings, identified, seventh from the left 15 402795 Flight Lieutenant (F1 Lt) Errol Edward Green RAAF, who
was a pilot attached to Mo, 7 Squadron RAF. His Sturling arcraft N3754 was shot down by a German mght
fighter whilst on a mission to bomb Bremen on the mght of 2526 June 1942, Four of his crew were killed in

the air crash. The other three crew members became prisoners of war of the Germans. Fl Lt Green spent

nearly three years as a POW, with most ttme spent in Stalag Lufi 111 He participated in preparations for
escape by dispersing soil taken from the tunnel, but was moved on to another camp by the Germans before the
cscape took place on the night of 24/25 March 1944, Shifted from camp to camp, Fl Lt Green eventually
escaped captivity with some other prisoners. After being picked up and fed by the American Army, FI Lt
Green and his fellow escapees were able to board a plane bound for Brtain, arriving a few weeks before D-
Day, May B 1045, I would love to know 1f anvone remembers my Dad, Errol Green perhaps from
Sagan prison camp. [ only know Camp Stalag Luft 111, other camps are unknown to me.

Errolis 7 ﬁ'nm the Teft

List of those who served with No: 7 Squadron during The Second

"Don’t Keep World War: Link to find the letter I wrote to Bomber Command
it under
Your Hat!™ Mo . 7 Sguadron Royal Alr Force In the Second World War 1939-
it's Time 1945 ...
to Tell!

wonw. wartimememoriesproject. comywwfalliedfrovalairforce fsgdview.php?pid=206

i e s Surprisingly almost 2 years later 4 emails arvived in my email box:




1. Ian Davenport was searching for information regarding his grandfather Lesliec and was excited to
share what he had found. Hiz grandfather was a navigator for 7 Squadron of the RAF and was
captured by the Germans in 1941 after he bailed out from his Short Stirling bomber. He spent three-
and-a-half vears at a number of prisoncr-of-war camps including Stalag Luft 3 where Errol was also
stationed.

2. Gill Chesney-Green entered information about a book she published from her Dad’s manuscript in
2014, Her Dad died 2002 and it took 12 vears from the time she discovered the manuseript of his war
life journal until she registered it in the same website that [ wrote my guestion...she saw my Dad’s
name and remembered that Errol’s name was mentioned in her tather’s manuscript which she found
after he had died. Consequently. she contacted me not knowing if my email address was still valid.
From Gill Cheney Green's blog; “on one of the websites — The Wartime Memories Project — 15 a
page for 7 Sguadron and in the List of names of former arrcrew | saw the name Errol Green. .
definitely a name | remember from dad’s book!!! *Of Strlings and Stalags: an air gunner's Tale' by
WE. ‘Bill" Goodman. At the bottom of the entry was a link to contact via email. .. so [ nawrally
clicked and contacted the person named. 1'll not give the lady’s name but she's the daughter of Erral
Green and she sounded wonderful. Emrol died four years before moy own father died, sadly. 1 think ot
rather ironic that she and [, in these days of the internet, have been in contact and that our fathers
may not have been since those far off davs! 1 often wondered what the folks mentioned in dad's book
Inoked like... and now | can put a face to the name as she sent me a photo from when he was in the
RAAF . .. brilliant! Wasn't he a handsome man?”

Flight Lieutenant Errol Green — RAAF  -Picture of Errol 2nd Right in Stalag Lufi 3 Nazi official photo

Short Stirling & RAF Bomber Command Forum
Short stirling I N3754 MG-0 RAF 7 Squadron Posthy Bob Wilton » Wed Nov 19, 2014

Bob posted the Canberra War Memonial information I pested in Bomber Command Forum regarding Emrol,
photos of Errol’s crew and information regarding the German palot who claimed to have shot him down,

e AR A £
GREEMN jpz (226.73 KiB) Errol {a) sitting im and {b) standing by the entrance of the arcraft



Re: Short stirling 1 N3754 MG-0 RAF 7 Squadron__Postby Karacho » Wed Nov 19, 2014

Stirling N3754 / MG-0 was shot down by Oblt. August Geiger from 8/NJG 1. ( 2.00 time / night )
Mission on this night : bombing Bremen

The Stirling crashed ca. & Km north of Nordhorn / Am Lugthook.

The crew on this mission:

E. Green POW 402795

T. Momis POW 1194833

R. Ketchell KIA 900301

L. Mason POW 1154558

E.L. Hynd K14 404404

R.C. Williamson KIA 646510

F.E. Little KIA 628631 The killed crewmembsers are buried at Reichswald-Cemetry |

Errol never knew 2 other crew survived the crash and returned to England. Errol suffered from survivor guilt
syndrome until he died in 1998,

Errol felt honoured that the pilot who claimed to have shot down Dad’s plane arranged to meet him as a
prisoner. This forum also wrote information about this pilot Oberleutnant Geiger.

Geiger was born on & May 1920 in Uberlingen, near Lake Constance. Geiger joined the Luftwaffe in late 1939 and

was posted in mid-1941 as Leutnant to 8./Machtjagdgeschwader 1 (WIG 1) 5 Gaiger's first twao
daims were a Vickers Wellington and a Armstrong Whitworth Whitley on 26 June 1942, By the start
of 1943 Geiger had ten victories and been awarded the Iron Cross First Class.

In early 1943 Geiger was promoted to Oberlevtnant (first lisutenant) and transferred to a

7./NIG 1, becoming Staffelkopitdn (squadron leader) in May 1943, with some 40 confirmed
Victories. On 29 September 1943 he was shot down by the Beaufighter VI of W/C Bob Braham of
Mo. 141 Squadron RAF over the Zuiderzee, Netherlands. 'Y Gieger managed to bail out of his
Messerschmitt Bf-110 but died in the process.

i

Re: Short stirling 1 N3754 MG-0 RAF 7 Squadron Postby jamesinneweastle » ThODer 1T, 20T

Hi All

Errol Green's daughter has been in touch with me and I have supplied her with the squadron ORBs, not sure
if amyone has sent these to her before but anyway there are some phrases on them that [ do not understand so
if anyone can help!

I. Errol Green took part in the first, second and third 1000 Bomber Raids - on form 540 it is noted theat:
OPERATIONS: Second raid of "The Thousand Plan

Deetailed: STIRLING N. 3708 5/Ldr CREBBIN DFC

" R. 9306 3GT GREEN

There are other names mentioned but what exactly did this entry mean? What was it to be "Detailed"?
Iy As shown. Adrcraft serial number, skipper, crew. In other words, the battle order for this aircraft.

2. DN.C.O 7 2) Duty Not Carried Out

3. T.E. 77 It can be 'bombed on' and can 'fail' But what do the letters stand for?
1.TR 1335 was the Gee Box. Navigation aid to enhance bombing accuracy.

4, Gardening is dropping mines and the mines are the 'vegtables' but what is Rosemary'?



4) Gardening tarzets were listed by codewords. Rosemary was an arca off Heligoland.

Thanks for the decodes!
Cheers
James

From: GLYNNE HOWELL [madlto:GLYNME HOWELL <gkntstmanys@btinkemat.com:]

Sent: Monday, 29 December 2014 3:23 AM
To: Sister Chrysanthi

Subject: Fe: Of Stedings and stalags

Hi dgeiia

Drireeedy above is

(This phest was omomy Mum's villa wall but never knew the story behind it). Etral Green

Glynne writes: Thought T had better tell you the story behind the phoo. On the 24th

Movember 1941 two Stitlings took off from Oalington and headed for Borkam Inoking for any

enemy shipping. On reaching the Borkum area they found a convoy which they atcacked. Ar this

point eight Me 109s arnved and artacked both aircraft, fghting off repeated ateacks, shoonng

down two fighters they headed for home ar sea level. Several crew members received awards

hence the photo. See Place, Dare summary of Evenes’- this was one of Emel’s sortes 24.11.41

As for the pow camps, at first when captured be would have gone to Frankfurt Dulag luft for

interrogation, then on o Soalag Loft 1110 Sagan). As yvou have said he was moved from there

just before the Great Escape. With the increase of RAF and Amencan POWs in the camp, the

Germans dedded to open up an old German army training camp as 2 POW camp. This was not

far from Sagan, a place called Belana, I think this camp was run by the Sagan adminisration and

called also Stalag Luft 3. The rest I think vou know, the long march west.  Regards Glyone

I will see whar else I can find out for vow. Yoo will have to let me know what operations you

have so 1 can look out the ones vou are missing from the Sgn ORBs.

Will contace you again soon,

Regards Glynne,




British Commonwealth Air Training Plan scare onen
referred to as simply "The Plan”™, was a massive, Joint military aircrew training program created by the
United Kingdom, Canada, Australia and New Zealand, during the Second Warld War ! BCATP remains as
one of the single largest aviation training programs in history and was responsible for training nearly half the
pilots, navigators, bomb aimers. air gunners, wireless operators and flizht engineers who served with the
Royal Air Force (RAF), Royal Australian Air Foree (RAAF), Royal Canadian A Foree (RCAF) and Royal
MNew Zealand Air Force (RNZAF) during the war =

Information from: hitps;/en. wikipedia.org/wiki/British_Commanweaith_Air_Training_Plan

Eackgrnund =The United Kingdom was considered an unsuitable location for air training, due to the

possibility of enemy attack, the strain caused by wartime traffic at airficlds and the unpredictable climate, so
the plan called for the facilities in the Dominions to train British and each other's aircrews. The British
Commonwealth Air Traiming Plan was viewed as an incredibly ambitious programme. The 1939 agreement
stated that the traming was to be similar to that of the RAF: three tmtial training schools, thirteen elementary
flving traiming schools, sixteen service flying training schools, ten air observer schools, ten bombing and
gunnery schools, two air navigation schools and four wireless schools were to be created [

The agreement called for the training of nearly 50,000 aircrew cach year, for as long as necessary: 22 000
airerew from Great Britain, 13,000 from Canada, 11,000 from Australia and 3,300 from New Zealand.
Under the agreement. air crews received clementary tramming in various Commonwealth countries before
travelling to Canada for advanced courses. Bl Training costs were to be divided between the four
EOVECITITCNS.

Counfries involved

During 1940, Roval Australian Aar Force (RAAF) schools were
established across Australia to support EATS in Imitial Traming,
Elementary Flying Traiming, Service Flving Traming, Air Mavigation,
Air Observer, Bombing and Gunnery and Wireless Air Gunnery. The
farst flving course started on 29 April 1940,

Canada was chosen as the primary location for "The Plan” because of its
ideal weather, wide open spaces suitable for flight and navigation

traiming — sometimes on a larze scale, ample supplies of fuel. industrial
facilities for the production of trainer aircratt, parts and supplies, the
lack of any threat from either the Luftwaffe or Japanese fighter aircraft

and its relative proximity to both the European and Pacific theatres.

Instructor and student with RCAF
Station Uplands, Canada, 1941,

Errol in Canada Errol sailed from Sydney 21.2.41 amiving 16.3.41 Birthday 5.6.41 aged 25
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Errol embarked 18.6.41 Canada for UK arriving 17.7.41

dnren A ,“"';

States: Flying training 2 1TS {imitial
training service] 14.10.40, 6.12.40
Australia Recruiting centre

5 EFTS (Elementary Flying Training]
12.12.40-5.2.41 Linfield, Sydney +
Marromine +Bradfield Park  Pass 6d4%

2 5FT5| Service Flying training school]
17.3.41, 28.5.1941 Average

Willing aerobatics Good average

Awarded Flying Badge WLF 23.5 41
RCAF Station Uplands, Canada,
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States:1. Errol granted as Pilot
Officer in RAAF on 17.6.1942
{General duties).

2 Flying Officer (Temp} 17_6.1942
Temp. Flight Lisutenant

3. 17.6.1944 awarded while as
Prisoner of war in Germany

4. Registered as missing 26.6.1942
| 5.- 11.5.45 registered as safe in UK

6.- B.B.45 repatriated to Australia

Y
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Errol scated 3 from the right Errol second from the right



ERROL Awarded his Flying
Badge in Canada by Sir
Clive Baillieu- Director
General of the British
Purchasing Comrmission-
23541

Embarked 18.6.41 Canada

for UK arriving 17.7.41




Summer uniform- Errel 3™ from left —in Canada training -16.3.41- 18.6.41

Training to be a Pilot was rigorous; the trainee had to be accountable for mistakes in Training- even
rendering the trainee to be suspended from further training, stripped of his wings and rank and sent home
to do menial duties. | have since learned that in training and other accidents in bomber command, there
were ower 8,000 air crew killed and another 4,000 or more injured as a result of accidents. This was
invariably caused by inexperience, worn out aircraft, overcrowded skies and/ or bad weather. All our
training was then to be put to the test knowing that the survival rate was not high. It is understoad the life
expectancy of a Lancaster bomber was no more than forty hours operational flying time. Mearly nine
thousand of all Bomber Command aircraft failed to return from bombing raids over Mazi occupied Europe
during the war, of which three thousand five hundred were Lancasters.

From 1939 to 1945, from a total of about one hundred and twenty five thousand, over fifty five
thousand Bomber Command crew were killed as a result of all bombing operations over Europe. Mare
than 4,000 Australians were among that number. Almost 10,000 became prisoners of war. This rate of loss
has been reputed to be greater than the total loss of British Army Officers in the trenches during World
War 1. "Mission Incomplete” by Dudley Hannaford- {Australia) - - Introduction.

Dudley Hannaford lived in a Retirement village near Camden. Dudley’s book "Mission
Incomplete’. gave me my first understanding of what my Dad’s war journey might have

been like.



PREFARATIOMNS FOR TAKE OFF IN BOMBER COMMAND

FROM baok Aerew the story of Bre men who New bombers' fin England) by Bruce Lewis-

Tha mmosl levrifping eneny the bomber crews bad fo face was appaling weather—andiess blanksis of fog and isrce head
winde. Tce wes fhe worat menace. i formed thick [syars on the wings. It wned hydrawic syslems fo jsily; gun durmets, bomb doors.
undercamiagss ail stopped working. B formsd apague shsen aver Perspex windows. making i impossitle o sse out. foa played
haves wilh istrumenis and the redia, " Frosfbde was mol ancammon amang haese who Daw m Hess pionear bambars. Hands weans
onceeed firsf in @ sik glove, over thiz & woollen giowve, and finally & thick leather geuntist. in order fo camy ow sorme essential
duties, plofing & courss on & chart for instance, wiiting up & signals log, or accuafely tapping owt & messags on & Marse key, this
prodeciive clathing had fo be ramoved. i & bars hand inadverently touched a melal par of the sircraf? # wowd fresze fa thaf ohysct
imrmedialely.”

On one of bis fired cross-countries auf Iraming. the weiter had Been providied with a pack of sendwiches wiapped in
grease-proal paper with an outsr cover af newspaper. In addition he wae qiven 5 small tin of concentrated omngs fuice. About 3
am he fel the need for refrashmeant He reachsd for the fire axe snd simed 5 biow & the top of the fin. making & suttelie holke
throungh wivch fo pour the Squid. i was & wasls of ims. The orange juice had frozen o 5 sofid Wock Unwrapping the sandwichss
he dizcovarsd they were encased i & frosty covenng of orysials and were hard as stons. When he hit them with an axe, sharp
sptindevs of bread Rew s over the cabin ' He nobed e wes Mang i an gitkame nefigerstorn.

{From Dudley Hannafiord ) Preparations for air crews seried aboat midday with specialist briefings when each crew member
received detsiled instructions from his section head, followed by the main briefing. [t was at this briefing sach capain answeared
the roll call on behalf of his assembled crew after which the barle order, target and enemy flak positions and fighter
cancentrations ko be avoided = well as “doubtful” information on hkely weather conditons 1o be encountersd. This was followed
by “Any gueston™ All thes happened in o windowliess room with o guard af the deor. The kst coll, as always, was “Synchronse
your watches- the fime now is- good luck chaps!™ This was followed by a special ops meal which was always weleome (P2-3)...
{Then ..carly bacon and eges, bocause of the severe food mtioning in Britain this was always a bomus for all who retumned safely.
(171}

Al necessaties, such as perachue, “Mae Wes™ (lile jacket), beather helmet with mberoom and moveen allachmems, exim
warm clothing, flving boots, other personal ivems like coffiee Nasks and maybe “bikkies', were guihered up and eaken i the crow
TOOM b awiil necessary fransport o take us o our aliodbed dispersal, usoally bwo crews tooa van At the dispersil we joined owr
ever faithful ground crew who had always done a champion job, They were watling in their “home-made™ dispersal hut which
they called their “retreat”, and wherne they regulady had o geod coal fire goang, We generally had b wail around so we were
always pleased 1o join them for a chat. We had become a close-knit team. They were very much a part of us. We knew they had
our saficty at heart and we wene cerfainly comscious of it

Our bamb load this tme was 9 five hundred poundens and one “cookbe” -four thoasand pounder- as well as some
incendiaries. Our losd was limited to the weaght of nine thousand pounds because of having 1o carry the maximen fuel lod of
154 gallons to such a distani rget. En roate we were to ffy ot nine thowsand fiset il we reached owr bombing beight of eleven
thaousamnd foel Take off could be delayed dse to changed weather conditions. This was farly normal and it was something to
which we had become conditioned. bt not without proiest at times.

At leasi half an bowr before take-off was the e b et onboard te dis the final checks- electrical, mdie and mdio gear.
brmb sight and switches, oxygen, turrets- while the pilot gave the engines o nan-up with the flight engineer checking all bis
gauges. 1i was abowt this itme when the Commanding Officer usually dropped by in hds car te wish os all well. It was alwayvs a
good momle bovster. If and when everything checked ow OK the pilot signed the Form 7O, signifiang the aircmift was fit o fly.
This was the last physical comact we had with the ground siaff.

Saxteen aircrafl from szch squadron lined up bead 1o @il along the pemmeter racks ready for take-of T at obowt ore minute
inervals as the sizmal was given. As ahways, there was the large crowd which consisted of ground staff, both RAF and WAAF
{Wenmsen's Auxiliary Arr Force), semior officers and sometimes the Commanding or Station Officer. They all lined wup at the
beginning of the rurmway b wave us off, each in tum. It was o constand reminder that it was sotally o team effoet. 1t was estimated
that for every member of the air-crew there wene nine ground staff involved in getting them into the aic. S0 responding to the



green fHash of the aldis lamp at the end of the imway, we were off. There was preat relief when we finally and safely lified off.
Deur time of tuke ofT was recorded.

As we inoreased in beight through clowd. some icing developed oo the propellers, windscreen and leading edges of the
wings bul it wasn't heng before we passed through ot all as we contimued 1o chimb o our designated beight. There was always the
tanger of the pitoh head on the xirspeed indicator, even thoagh it was eleciricolly warmed, being affected by icing and giviong «
false reading. Orver the Month Sea the gunners fived thedr lest burst s making sure their guns were in good working crder.

Az we crossed into enemy-occupied territory we could see the oocasiona] flashes and puffs of smoeke from flak shead and
om cach side but none clese envagh to wormy us. From the iime we began lyving over enemy termtory the bomb aimer regulady
pushed cut bundles of *“wanduw"™ — sirips of mestal foal- wiich wene designed to provide a screen for the bomber siceam, with the
intemtion of clouding the German redar mongtors. This was particularly imporiant when approsching the mrget arca which was our
muast vulnemble time.

{Ine of the wireless opemlor’s important responsibilities was bo listen out for cach quaster-bourly brondcast from base in
Englamd. These broadeasts were vital and importom not to miss one. They were sent on code and could at any time relay o change
m instructions, d@rection or, at times, a recall On the owtwand joarney, strict mdse silencoe had to be shserved unless you were
desigraied as a “link” with hase for impariant commumcabions or were confionted with an emergency such as having to ditch into
the Morth Sca. In such cases an S0 distress signal coald be tmnsmitted. Another duty, partscularly near or over the target, was o
keep a watch-out through the astrodrome for fighier enemy planes. Every eve oo them was importane. P. 2-B *Mission
Incomplete’ by Disdley Hanmaford.

PLANE HIT AND GIVEN THE ORDER TO EVACUATE THE PLANE AND BALE OUT...

Bepinming the descent by parzchute- by rodling over and over before feeling the tug on the hamess was the welcome lowd
crack as the chute opened. All the training exercises, like making the necessary count befone the pull, God's guidance and instioct
ke aver. With greal reli=f 1 swung to and fro while gemly floating down. There was an uncanny quict. apant from the saund of
the wind swishing past the canopy- almoest unreal afier all the confusion, moise and hectic drmma through which we had jus
passsd. The plane now a complete infemo from stem o stern, passed by me al quite close range Gl it fmally crashed one husdred
arad fifty b two bundred metnes away and exploded in a ball of flame and thick biack smoke.

Timez gpent in the chute was amazingly short. 1 passed through some low closd and mist just befors hitting the deck with
a mighty thud. totally wmprepared. The low clowd and the darkness closing in beneath it made it hard to amtscipate and 1 had no
icden ad that stage how leav wee were when we bailed o, Fortunaieldy it was a muddy field. It had been raining heavily and the
pround was very soggy. | was grateful to be insuch a welcome spot | knew it could have been much worse from storics we had
hezard an the Sguadron-could have been caugiit in a tree, in a swirling miver or lnke, on a bumang city building or even a Gestapa
Headquarters, as was 1be sd experience of some

MAYBE ERROL EXPERIENCED SOMETHING LIKE THIS AS HIE BACK COLLIDED WITH A POST AS HE
LANDED.

A a result of my sudden “clash with the earth’ [ copped excrocmting pain i the back as well ax 2 sprained ankle. [ teak
me @ mameni or two o get my breath. The back problem slowed me up b there were more important things to think about now.
I was more than thankfial 1o the One whom I now had come o trmast. When [ picked myself up my first privrity was to get id of
my chate. It was such a big white mass glowing in the night. So, working al top speed, 1 buried it fogether with the lames”, bae
West' and other gear, by piling mud over the top of them all in quite a deep ditch between the field and a quiet country road. 1
then began io moke myself scarce. We were always issued with clementary escape rations. These included a compass. the soe of
a five cent piece, a large mop of the whole of Eurepe or part thereof, depending oo the target, halfa dorzen matches. cigareibes,
concenirubed food blocks (half inch square), thirst sweets, 2 number of horlicks and viamin fablets,

wader purifying hieis, sleeping tnblets, o balf pint nabber waler poach, a rmzor and shaving brush
Because of the exira long distance (o this target we were alse given a supplementary escape kit

The rounded Perspex container fitted nicely inte cach imside breast pocket. All in all ihis was expecbed
o sustnin us for at least a week or as long as we could stretch them.

ERROL WAS SHOT DOWN OVER BREMEN AND WAS CAUGHT
AT BENTHEIM, GERMANY 26.6.42 AND SPENT THE WEEKEND IN A
CELL NEAR OR UNDER COLOGME CATHEDRAL




This is a surnmary of Dad’s squadron war log notes for the sorties (23 as 2" pilot + 9 as Captain) he
participated in and includes portions of Bill Goodman's book which related to Dad's sorties and of Dudley
Hannaford plus portions of letters fram his mother sent to Errol while doing operations and as POW.

PLACE DATE TIME SUMBMARY OF EVENTS

Dakingtan 241 Moy, ALK W/Cmdr. H.R. Graham D50 and *J° Sgt. Taylor (of Sydney, NSW)
laft to attack enerny shipping. South of Borkirm they sighted an enemy convoy
which the former attacked but missed between the two target ships. 'K’ was
attacked by 8 MLE. 109's, up to 3 attacked at any one time generally breaking
off at 1,000- 1200 yards. One pressed home attack from ahead firing some
cannon. Front gunner got in 50 rounds and the mid-upper gunner got in some
gaood hits at 150 feet range as the M.E. passed above. It was seen by the rear
gunner to burst into flames and dive almost vertically to sea level- was last
seen making for land still burning.

‘We had a changed course so that we were approaching Brest from a southerly direction, so that \WE
wera now approaching with the sun bahind us and blinding the ground defences. Brest was then a German
Mavy base for the war in the Atlantic. At the time the Pocket battleships, Scharnhorst and Gneisenau, were
berthed there for repairs. It was imperative that they remain there as they were such a potential danger if
allowed out to attack our shipping. To do the maximum damage we were carrying armour piercing bombs,
twe thousand pounds each, long, slim and looked very wicked. The aim was to put them through the
armour plated decks before they exploded inside. Graham was trying something new for our sguadron. We
were to goin in a steep glide rather than a dive- a frightening prospect with such a large aircraft, but the
Stirling was very manoceuvrable and ‘gentlemnan friendly’. P.83. : 'Of Stirlings and Stalags: an air-gunner's
tale’ by WE ‘Bill’ Geodman. P.83

At one time | worked with the Australian pilot, Errol Green. He had acguired the distinetion of
telling Graham to quit trying to land. He was returning from a daylight sweep off the German and Dutch
coasts. The squadron had a reputation for one or two Stirling’s to make them carry some 250 pound high
explosive bombs and as much daylight ammunition as could be loaded for the guns. Sometimes they would
be in company with our fighters briefed to escort them; on aother sweeps they would be on their own.
Obviously shipping would be a target if any were found; if not a few bombs from low level onto German
fighter dromes on the Friesian islands or near the Dutch coast, The Luftwaffe pilots came up to engage
them, only to be shot down as they could never know our tactics and the use of sorme of the older Stirlings
which had beam guns rather than the |later mid-upper turrets

Returning to Erral Green: They arrived back home without damage and the Wingeo made all
arrangements to land. The nature of his landings invariably invelved a number of bounces, some of which
wera |ikely to put the aircraft in danger as they were so severe. Those of us who became aware he was
about to land would drop whatever we were doing to watch and it was not unknown for bets to be made
on the autcome.

To the amazement of the watchers it made a perfect landing, and it was only when it became
knewn fram the Flying Control staff that the Wingee had left his radio switched on after the last
transmission, so that the pre-landing checks were heard by them. The plane made an approach, obviously
with Graham at the controls, when Errol’s voice was heard shouting, “Get your hands off the contrals. I'm
taking it down!" and the plane’s flying attitude settled down and the landing from the right hand seat was
perfact. Not a word of reproof was uttered by the Wingeo and the matter died a death, but remained in
the memories of us all.™ P. 91, 92 : "Of Stirlings and Stalags: an air-gunner's tale’ by WE "Bill" Goodmani.

Towards the end of December, the weather worsened a little. It became dull with increasing
dampness, and we had a few quiet days. Christmas approached and we all looked forward to a grand



Christmas Eve. To our dismay it was rumoured amongst Intelligence sources that despite the damage the
two pocket battleships might sail from Brest, taking advantage of the worsening weather and the possible
"hung ower’ condition of the RAF crews and make a dash up the English Channel on Christmas Day 1941

During WW1 the opposing armies had held an unofficial truce, meeting in ‘'no man’s land’, singing
carols together and if | remember correctly, even having a game of football. It was obvious that in WW2
there would be no such relaxation on that day.

24.12.41 The aircraft were assembled ready for take-off the following day, should the ships sail,
fully refuelled and ready to receive the bomb load at the last minute. Engineers were unhappy that the
planes should stand around for many hours overnight with so much additicnal weight of fuel in the fully
laden tanks, but operational necessity seems to have been very important. We were all confined to camp
that evening and aircrews were banned from the bars in the Officers” and Sargeants’ messes. To further
that isolation it was impossible to telephone calls to numbers off-camp.

‘When we awoke on Christmas Day there was a sprinkling of snow frozen to the surface of the
runway and surfaces of the planes. It would have been foolhardy to attempt a take-off with frozen surfaces
on the planes or in intakes which could affect instrumentation, viz. the pitot head tube which connects to
the air speed indicator. Everyone not engaged on essential duties was pressed into service with shovels
and brooms to clear the rumway and to de-ice the aircraft. Bomb loads had been prepared to winch up into
the bomb bays and the work had just been completed when word came through that the ships were not
coming out and the operation was cancelled. The aircrews were stood down for the rest of the day. One
more thing remained to be done- excess fuel had to be drained from the tanks and put back into the fuel
storage facilities to lighten the weight of the bombers. What an anticlimax!

| always wondered what operation was cancelled that
allowed Diad and Mum to meet on Christmas Day 1941111

Traditionally in the RAF on Christmas Day all members
of the Officers and Sergeants messes attended at the Dining
Rooms of corporals, airmemn, including their WAAMAF members.
The men and women have their dinners served to them by
the mess members amongst much jollity, crackers and all the
other things to make for a Chrstrnas as merry as war-time
would aliow. | was working hard as a waiter along with a
pilot called Errof Green; we came to one particular WARAF
who knew me. S§he was a Scottish girl. | left them talking
together and later, on occasions, | saw them walking out
together. P.89, 90 "Of Stirlings and Stalags: an air-gunner’s tala’
by WE 'Bill’ Goodman.

Dakington 3" March ‘42 Nine aircraft visited the RENAULT Works
at Rillancourt and dropped 100,000 [bs.
of bombs on the objective. Hits were
observed on the Power station, the
Gasometer blew up and altogether a very
successiul time was 'had by all”. Maost
aircraft reported a congestion of friendly

aircraft, very few searchlights and little
'FLAK'. In fact a perfect party except for the lack of a traffic cop!

Oakington 8" March ‘42 Eight aircraft to Essen on an incendiary Raid. Good results were obtained on



the whole, many fires being started some of which were visible sixty miles
away. Inall nearly 10,000 4ibs. incends and 48 x 250 incends were dropped in
and around KRUPPS Works.

After the Battle of Britain {July- September 1940} and the German invasion of Russia [December
1940- June 1941), the Luftwaife had to commit a large element of its strength to the Eastern front. What
was left was not emough to knock out RAF bases etc, but was able to continue night raids on Lendon. The
Luftwaffe started to mount raids against towns and cities of historical and architectural interest of the
nimeteanth century but which were not considered legitimate "war targets’. One of the first was Coventry,
which was absolutely devastated in the attack- Other cities York, Canterbury, Morwich, Exeter and Bath
being prominent in the list of unwarranted destruction. Maturally, the entire English speaking world was
disgusted, many demanding repercussions against similar German cities instead of the war targets the
allies raided. In the briefings for various raids crews were not happy when the reciprocal was to occur, as
they did not wish to indulge in the barbaric conduct of the enemy...murmurings that almost hinted of
mutiny occurred. But sanity prevailed and to cbey orders was the safer option. But sometimes other
factors occurred so that the target wasn't reached.

As well as Essen and Mannhein; Dortmund, Cologne and Hamburg had our attention, and
sometimes more than once. We did our share of "Gardening’ when we planted 'vegetables’. Vegetables
was the code name for a sea mine and they were 'sown’ in watensays, most often waters where the RN
minelayers could not reach. It followed that the code name ‘gardening’ should cover the sowing of
vegetables. Such operations could be as dangerous as bombing trips as they required low level flying and
were so often well within the range of enemy guns.P.108, 109 : 'Of Stirlings and Stalags: an air-gunner's
tale' by WE “Bill" Goodman.

Oakington 13" March“42  Eight aircraft to Cologne. Five reached the primary and dropped 72x 250lbs
and 4320 x 4 |bs. incendiaries in the target area. Many fires were seen
starting and in progress in the town. Two aircraft returned owing to failure
of Special Equipment and one had engine trouble. All returned safely. One
freshman bombed an aerodrome 5.E. of Dunkirk.

Oakington 6™ April ‘42 Five aircraft were detailed to attack ESSEN. Weather conditions were
appalling and all turned back. Continuous heavy rain, thunderstorms and
squalls made the carrying out of the operation im possible though S/Ldr. DJ.H
Lay {DFC) reached the Dutch coast.

Oakington 7 April “42 Group Captain, C.0. Adams and W, Cmdr H.R. Graham DS0 attended
a lunch in London given by the directors of Shorts, builders of the Stiring.
W/Cmdr. Graham in a short speech summarized the efforts of 7 Squadron
since the commencement of operations in February 1941
In 525 Sorties 1,600 tons of bombs were dropped on enemy territory at the cost of 29 aircraft and
199 casualties were killed, missing or prisoners of war. One D50, 12 DPC's and 12 DPM's have been
awarded the Squadron and 34 enemy aircraft destroyed or probably so.

Oakington 8% April "42 Mine aircraft were detailed for operations HAMBURG
and Gardening. Three aircraft abandoned HAMBURG due to icing
trouble and one more from excessive oil temperature. Two aircraft
bombed the primary target, six good bursts and some fires started in
target area.

Oakington 10" April'd2  Two aircraft attacked the harbour at LE HAVRE and five



ESSEM.. 5/Ldr. D.I.H Lay DFC. was attacked by a night fighter and made a
good landing with one tyre punctured.
Dakington 12™ April "42  ESSEN was again the primary objective, eight aircraft being detailed to attack
it. There were so many fires that results were with difficulty observed. Fires were visible 100 miles
away however and the results appeared satisfactory. Dropped bombs on decks 5,6 and 7.

215 April *42 H.R.H. The Duchess of Gloucester visited the station but her activities were in
connection with the W A.AF. personnel and she did not visit the Squadron.

28 april '42 It was a month of records for the Squadron. One hundred sorties was topped for the
first time. Qut of 105 sorties only one aircraft was lost and 262 tons of bombs were
dropped. W/Crndr B.D. Selleck DPC. recorded his thanks to the ground staff for their
splendid efforts which made this possible.

Eva Green's letters to her son Errol in England and Germany

Just another attempt to tell yvou the news from home- First of all
we ‘three’ are all well, just waiting for news of our loved ones, and we will
be OK. That sums up all that matters these days. Of course we have to
keep our eyes open for the "yellow menace’ but we believe ‘we can take
it" with the help of God and the assistance of our American friends....

Woell today is another milestone in Dad’s life he was very
lucky...many gifts and we feel sure there will be a cable soon from
‘Emgland’. He is feeling quite pleased with himself. The only “fly’ in the

=

- T ointment is that he has to answer these gifts; also he has to write to
Dakington

9th May 1942 | Grandma for Mother's Day. | don't mind as it gives one a spell.

| am listening to the ‘wireless’ giving us an account of ‘cloths rationing’. We used to think that only
belonged to foreign countries, but it is here now, but we don’t mind, we want to win this terrible war come
what may.

We received a letter from Alvin today. He seems well. He has not been home far nearly three
months. | sent him a cake for his birthday and he did not receive it so far. He seems to be out somewhere
where he doesn't get his mail regularly. | also posted one for you too Errol; also we posted two puddings in
tins. | just wrote a few lines and put in the parcel explaining how to remove the puddings easily. It was not
a letter as we always write twice each week. 50 some kind person, who certainly has no one ‘overseas’ or
far away forward the note back to me. Someday they may have loved ones far away, or will they? They
may have easy jobs at home.

Mavis and Aunt rang up late last night for Dad's birthday and Mother's Day. It was lovely to hear
poor old Mavis's voice again. She is very happy. 5o was 5adie, l[aughing away as usual. Flora was "out’ but
will ring again soon.

Mow this seems all for this time, so with these words | will close. Be strong and of Good Courage; be
not afraid, for the Lord thy God is with thee wither thou goest.

Love & all God’s blessings from your loving Mother, Dad and Elva
17.5.42

My darling Erral,



‘Well the weeks go by and sometimes | think that is week more to the end of all this terrible war. How are
you Erral? | would like so much to know. But it takes so long to get an answer, the mails are very slow now,
but one of these days we will get a great big bundle. | hope so at any rate and | do hope you receive ours
OK. We never miss twice each week. I'd rather miss a meal than miss writing to you.

Ehva has not had word from lohn since Feb. from Java. She is hoping each day will bring news of him. 5She is
far better than | thought but | believe *Your lack will be according to your burden”. | do hope and pray he is
safe.

Mavis seems very happy. Aunt Sadie wrote to Ehva yesterday. She is wonderful. She is a mother to Mavis
and Elva, that is if?Y you can hawve two maothers {she is very good amyway}. I'll never forget how she treated
us while you were in 5ydney. She made all that last week possible for us to be together so much. She often
asks one to go down, but | am waiting for you to come home then I'll go down willingly. The weather is
lovely here now- Just getting cold at night. We could do with some rain for the farm.

Dad is getting the machine for threshing the corn tomorrow while Alvin is home to help. \We have a lot of
corn and it's a good price. The cane is a problem. Whao is going to cut it?

I still have my ‘love birds' noisy as ever and Roger too. He is just a friendly dog, not much use of course.
Dad has started the tractor again ploughing all the corn stalks -Plenty to do, but he keep going and keeps
well. We still get enough petrol to go to church twice on Sunday. Mr. Trotter is doing very well. We all like
him and Mrs. Trotter.

There is talk of cloth rationing and most people went mad and bought up more than they need. Lots of
things are getting scarce, but Australians should never starve while we have an Australia and God to help
and protect us. | often think of that Hymn we used to sing. Lead kindly Light amid the encircling gloom.
Lead Thou me an, | fear no foe, with Thee at hand to bless. Lead Thou one on also, Rock of Ages cleft for
one. Let one hide myself in Thee. So | hope we will all trust and pray for help and peace on earth and good
will ameng men.

Lowe from your loving Mother, Dad, Elva and Alvin.
21.5.42 Crews trained and posted to Mo.7 Sguadron Sgt. Green [Captain)

Flying time for the month 14235 hours
22/30" hlay Met. Conditions prevented operations

20.5.42

My dear Errol,

“Thanks for Dad’s Birthday Cable’. We received it yesterday, also two letters written 20°" and 24" March.
They were very welcome. ¥ou must have missed some of our letters if you did not hear any news of Mavis’
wedding as we all gave an account of it at different times. It was 27" December she was married at £.30 in
the Free Church. Mrs. McPherson did most of the catering and we had the long tables in the lounge room
decorated with pink and blue "hiderangers’. We had all sorts of nice things- Chicken Platters and
Sandwiches and cordials [nothing stronger]). Did you receive your piece of wedding cake and also the
photos? | am sorry we all looked so glum. Well that's how | felt. It's pretty hard for one to smile these days.
I am keeping them in store. Mavis is very happy these days. | am sure by now she has written lots of
letters. Poor old Elva is still waiting news of John since Feb but she has great faith that he is safe. | do hope
that God will care for you Errol and | do thank Him for keeping you so far and pray that you will be spared
to return to me if it is His will.



We had Alvin home. You could hardly believe how well he looks. He had not been home for 3 months. He
had & days home. He helped Dad thresh out 140 bags of corn. They got word that 100bags was sold for
{censored}. Dad and Alvin put 40 bags in the big tank. | saw in the paper that the girls out of ‘Coles’ Grafton
went down to Herb Greene last Sunday and husked 50 bags of maise.
| keep on sending small parcels. | hope they are OK. | sent two this maonth. | just scribbled a few lines to
make the parcel more attractive, but some kind person returned them to me. Evidently he has no one
across the seas. Considering we write twice each week it was only a note and please remember that | am
not to blame.

Mow if we could see beyond today as God can

If all the clouds could roll away

The shadows flee

Qur present grief we would not fret

Each sorrow we would soon forget

For many joys are waiting yet

For you and me!
| do hope and pray that God's goodness will continue to follow you all the days of your life. | will ever thank
Him for all His goodness to you Errol. Trust your life in His keeping and we will not fear. 1t's always my
prayer and lots of others praying for you and John too. | do hope he is safe. God can care for you and John
too.
Love from your loving Mother, Dad and Elva. Dad keeps very well.

30 May OPERATIONS: ‘'The Thousand Plan’ {1st Thousand Plan for Dad as Captain)
COLOGME- The largest raid of the war. 19 Stirlings left this station, in which 7
& 101 Conversion Flight aircraft and aircrew co-operated. A successful raid, on a clear
moonlit target. Large fires and bursts seen by most aircraft. Over 1,000 aircraft left Cologne
ablaze. 4 aircraft had engine troubles. All other aircraft bombed target, and all returned
safely to base.

1.6.42 Eighteen aircraft of this Squadron took off on another thousand effort. (2™ Thousand Plane)
Target was ESSEM. Two sorties abandoned owing to engine and trouble. Many fires were
started in built up area despite cloud. One failed to return.

31.5.42
My dear Errol,

wWell Erral it will be your 26 anniversary on the B, I'll be thinking of you my boy. | never dreamed that
you would be so far away from home but | know that God is guiding and caring for you or | could not
endure the strain. | wish you many happy returns of the 8", I will send you a “Cable” tomorrow 1* as |
always do. | sent two parcels a few weeks back. Did you get that suit? | had it cleaned and pressed for you.
It should be through by now but things take so long these times, but we must be thankful. We are all in our
usual good health and today we are all sitting on the front porch in the sun. It is a beautiful Sabbath day
and everything so calm and peaceful. The river looks lovely and calm.

Alvin had hard luck on his leave. He took one day extra to help Dad thresh the corn and then could not go
on the 1** Div of Express so kept him some hours late. He had two days pay deducted from his pay and
fined 1 pound. So that is his first (bad marks). It may learn him a lesson. Dad did want help and he thought
it was the right thing to do as there was over 140 bags to thresh. Things are rationed now and we have to
have ‘cupons’. Who would have thought that a few years ago? But we can take it that there will always be



plenty im Australia for everyone. Mr Trotter preached today on the text “we can do all things through
Christ’. If we trust and pray Christ will do the rest!

‘We are all right as far as work goes. Elva and | get on well but that awful anxiety of not hearinf any news or
knowing where lohn is. But God has opened prison doors before and set the captives free. | had a letter
from Mrs Bailey 'Lloyds Mother'. She said she will wait patiently for she knows miracles were performed
1900 years ago and still can be. 5o | do hope nothing worse than being a prisoner is his fate. The news now
is bad but | still believe we are on the right side and "Right” is "Might’.

The road is pretty busy today as the cane gangs go out tomorrow to make a start on the cane for the
season. There is supposed to be 9000tons this year so there should be enough sugar. The trouble is getting
men. Some say that the girls will have to help drive the carts. There are a lot of potatoes being planted but
1 am wondering who will pick them. Dad is planting a few tone down along the front.

Erral, you are always in my mind and prayers both you and John and Alvin. We are always looking for mail
so | hope we ara lucky this week. We received Dad's birthday cable. "He really was expecting it". Mow Errol
I really must be closing hoping and praying that you are trusting your life in God's care, that He will be the
unseen guest in all your journeys and He bless and keep you always in your Mother's prayer.

Love from all at home. Mum.
2642 A follow on raid on ESSEM took place, eight sorties being detailed. Seven took off. Many fires

were started in target area. One failed to return.

5642 Seven sortied detailed to attack ESSEN over again. Three attacked successfully. Two sorties
abandoned owing to engine trouble.

6.6.42 Seven sorties to EMDEN, starts several fires. One failed to retumn.
2642 ESSEN- Seven sorties detailed but two abortive. Errol’s 26 birthday.
12.6.42 Wisit of their Majesties the King and Queen to this station, who with AN M. Baldwin C.B.

DS0. 0.B.E. inspected aircraft and "Cologne’ bombs.

13-156 No operations

16.6.4 ESSEMN again. Six sorties detailed; one had a burst tail wheel; one returned owing to exactor
trouble and two met severe icing conditions. Ome failed to return.

25.6.42 {Errod's 3 Thousand Plan flight as Captain) Another thousand raid over BREMEM. Cloud
made necessary bombing on E.T_A. by T.R. fix. Of sixteen sorties two returned to base with
engine troubles, one sortie jettisoned bombs near EMDEN during evasive action. One sortie
bombed VERESACK as alternative.

SGT. Green and his crew and plane failed to return.



Dulag Luft
Near Frankfurt-am-Main, Germany

Interrogation Camp

Dulag Luft was the first stop for most Army Air Force Personnel captured in German occupied Europe. Newly
amved POWs were usually told "Vas Du Das Kneg Est Uber" - "For You the War is Over.” Hardships. suffenng,
deaths, illness, ete., in subsequent POW camps, proved that our POWs were very much a part of the war until their
1945 liheration.

Location: There were three installations: Interrogabion center at Oberursel; Hospital at Hohemark: Transit camp at
Wetzlar

Opened:1942

POW Strength: From 1,000 per month i late 1943, to an average monthly intake of 2,000 in 1944, The Peak month
was July 1944 with over 3,000 Allied Airmen and paratroopers. Since solitary confinement was the rule, the capacity
of the camp was supposcdly limited to 200 men. Strength on any given day averaged 250

Camp Description: The camp had four larze wooden barracks. Two of the barracks
contained about 200 cells eight foot high, five foot wide wide and twelve feet long. Each
cell held a cot, wble, chair and an electric bell for the POW to call a guard. The third barrack
contained the adminsstrative headquarters. The fourth barrack, an L-shaped structure, held
the mterrogation offices, files and records. The camp was surrounded by a barbed wire fence
and the perimeter was not equipped with floodlights or

watchtowers.

Interrogations: Each prisoner was held in solitary confinement
for a limited period of time - usually four or five days. During
(rush penods as many as five men were held i a cell. The
linterrogators used various methods in an effort to obtain i
‘operational informatson from the capiured aimmen. Most POWs

ga'n: |:||1.|:.r Iflr. Jnformatmn required by the Geneva Convention - Mame, rank and senal g ;
number. After interrogation the men were sent to a transit camp and then to their established | T e——
POW camp.
Liberation: On 25 Apnl 1945 American troops overran Oberursel camp Errol was sent to Dulag Luft-
vacated by German personnel and records destroyed or moved elsewhere. Erankfurt from 27-6-3.7. 1942

INTERROGATION
They piled us on to the back of a small truck with no shelter whatsoever. It was
to take us about sixteen kilometres Morth West of Frankfurt to the notorious
'sweat boxes' of the infamous Dulag Luft. On arrival we were placed into
solitary confinement after the usual search and registration procedure. Photo
was taken and allocated POW number {Errol’'s POW number was 317) and
escorted to a cell. Personal items were taken

and

put in a cell in solitary
confinernent before being taken
to Stalag Luft 111, Sagan now
Paoland.




We had been given plenty of gen about what to expect, but we knew we had to face this before we could
ever get to a permanent POW camp. Running over in my mind was, as drummed into us, ‘you give your name, rank
and number, nothing more!’- as required by the Geneva Convention of 1929-say nothing and keep saying it!" This
was our duty! | remembered the advice that ‘the enemy can learn nothing from a silent and resolute prisoner whose
pockets are empty.” Our briefings on the Squadron had always emphasised that, when being interrogated, we must
avoid all eye contact and be careful about any body language.

The cell was, as expected, very basic. It was narrow, less than two metres wide, with the usual wooden
bench for a bed, a straw filled pillow and a small blanket. In addition there was a chair in the corner and, a high
barred window with a small central heating unit on the floor, which was very welcome. But to my bitter
disappointment this appliance operated for no more than one or two hours at a time when it was least required. The
inner walls were of a fibre substance which was soft enough for kriegies to make indentations with their thumb nails.
There were all sorts of messages and names recorded for posterity. The messages in which | was most interested
were the number of days each one had to spend in this wretched place. Some of them had spent up to twenty days
but the least and most attractive to me was four.

From the time of ‘lock-up’ there was no chance of seeing or speaking to another saul. This | greatly missed.
The rules were strict. Before entering the cell our cosy lamb’s woaol lined flying boots were removed and kept in the
corridor cutside the room, in case we had any ideas of escaping. Pacing the concrete floor in well worn and holed
sacks was not the ideal way to keep feet warm but this | did hoping at least to keep the circulation going.

The food was terribly scant- barely encugh to keep us alive. In the mornings | might get a couple of pleces of
black rye bread, some watery soup for lunch and some more bread lightly spread with jam together with some
ersatz coffee in the evening. The nights were long and sometimes | wondered If daylight would ever come.

For the interrogation | was allowed to put on my flying boots and | was marched along to a large pretentious
office with a plush carpet and superior furnishings and furniture. There to graet me was one of their senlor
Iinterrogating officers with the rank of Oberst {Calonel). To me he was a forbidding figure, smartly dressed in neat
uniform with decorations, but initially guite easy to meet. He was most cordial as he spoke in a fluent cultured
English accent- eourteaus and friendly. | had te remind myself that he was not a friend but the enemy who was now
about to set traps for me. | lifted up a silent 'telegram’ prayer to God for the needed wisdom and strength to cope
with what might come my way. Still running through my mind was ‘name, rank and number- nothing meare”.

As | entered he greeted mea warmly, shook my hands and asked me toe take a seat. His large polished desk
between us caught my attention as | complied. Looking up above his head | spotted on the wall behind him another
of those larger than life-size portraits of Adalph Hitler. He began by offering a cigarette which | promptly declined.
Leaning back on his impressive swivel chalr he followed up by encouraging a congenial ehat ta which | didn’t find
room to respond. He started his discourse by telling me exactly when, where and how | and my erew were shot
down. He knew what Squadron ta which we were attached and the location of the Squadron in England.....[.P 54-57
Dudley Hannafard)

CAMP LIFE

The nights were bitterly cold and we had to do with just one blanket each. Thankfully it wasn't too long
before Red Cross parcels arrived. Although only in small numbers, the first sight of them was so execiting and to opan
them was beyvond belief. Depending an the country fram which the parcels came they would contain some of these
iterns: dried fruits-raisins or prunes, canned meats and vegetables, fish- sardines or salmon, crackers, cheese,
margarine, oats, dried milk, peanut butter, powdered egg, sugar, tea, cocoa and for such extras as jam, chocolate,
tooth powder and soap. If they came from Scotland they were baund to have shortbread. When avallable, it was
expected that one parcel was sufficient for one person a week. P.62-89 "Mission Incomplete” by Dudley Hannaford.



Stalag Luft IIT Errol’s camp from

July 1942~ January 44 Muodel of the set used to film the movie The Grea

Escape. It depicts a smaller version of a single
compound in Stalag Luft I, The model 15 now at the
museum near where the prison camp was LOCATED

Stalag Luft 111

Stalsg Luft 111
Sagan, Germany {pre-war borders, 1937

Type Prisoner-of-war camp
Site information

Controlled by B Mori Germany

Site history
Sagan, Lower Silesia In use March 1942 - January 1945
Events The "Great Fscone"

Allied aircrew (officers) who were shot
down and survived during World War 11 were imcarcerated after interroganon in Air Foree Prisoner of War
camps run by the Luftwaffe, called Stalag Luft. short for Stemmdager Lufi or Permanent Camps for
Arrmen. Stalag Luft I was situated in a pine woods area at Sagan, 100 milesi 1 68km) south-cast of
Berlin, now called Zogan, in Silesia. At the time of the escape it was part
of Germany but is now in Poland.

Morman "Buck’ Taylef ™

-~ i

[ ™
- A

Clwird ‘Ted' [AAEEY me d

F.OW. camp hut 105

Camp Description: The camp had six compounds - Three used for American officers {South, Center and
West) and three for R.AF. Officers (including East & North}. Each compound had fificen one story wooden
hutments to house prizoners. Barrack rooms were about 10 x 12 feet. The fifticen men i cach room slept in
five inple-decked bunks. In one comer was a wood or charcoal burning stove. A ligh wire fence surrounded
the buildings. A few feet inside the fence was a low strand of wire - the warming wire. Guards were
permitied to shoot any prisoner crossing the warning wire. Guard towers, equipped with powerful
searchlights were placed at strategic locations along the fences. Armed guards with police dogs pairolled the
nterior and exterior penimeter of the camp.



Errol was taken from this camp in January 1944 to a subsidiary camp out of town to Belaria. This
camp was managed by staff at Stalag Luft 3 and so was still called Stalag Luft 3. Errol was here until
the evacuation on the long march January 1945, So, Errol was not In the main camp at the time of the
actual ‘Great escape’ March 1944 but was involved in preparations beforehand.

Escape attempts: Escape attempts were started soon after Stalag 3 was established and reached a scale that
was hardly reached by any of the other German POW camps. Almost everyone in all compounds were
involved in one way or another in escape attempts. The major escape took place in the North ( British)
compound on 24 March 1944. It became known as "The Great Escape.” A tunnel 336 feet in length, 30 feet
below ground level, was constructed. Eighty prisoners made their way out and only three made it back to
Great Britain. The rest were recaptured. Fifty of the escapees were executed by Gestapo firing squads.

Stalag 3 Sagan Evacuation: Russian troops were approaching Sagan, Poland. At
[1:00 PM on 27 January 1945 Germans marched the POWs out of Stalag 3 with
Spremberg for their destination. The exodus was harrowing to POWSs of all
compounds, especially to those of the South Compound who made the 55 kilometers
from Sagan to Muskau in 27 hours with only 4 hours sleep. At Muskau they were
given a 30 hour delay for recuperation and then marched another 25 km to
Spremberg. At Moosburg men were railed "forty-and eight” boxcars packed 50 men
and | guard in each boxcar. The trip took two days and twe nights. On 7 February
the men from the Center Compound joined them. Errol was sent to Stalag 3A at Lukenwald near Berlin until
22 April, 1945.

The camp is best known for two famous prisoner escapes that took place there by tunneling, which were
depicted in the films The Great Escape (1963) and The Wooden Horse (1950), and the books by former
prisoners Paul Brickhill and Eric Williams from which these films were adapted.

The first compound { East Compound) of the camp was completed and opened on 21 March 1942, The first
prisoners, or "kriegies", as they called themselves (from "Kriegsgefangene"), to be housed at Stalag Luft 111
were British and Commonwealth airmen as well as Fleet Air Arm officers, arriving in April 1942, The North
Compound for British airmen, where the Great Escape ocourred, opened on 29 March [943.

Eventually the camp grew to approximately 60 acres (24 ha) in size and eventually housed about 2,500
Roval Air Force officers, about 7,500 U5, Army Air Forces, and about 900 officers from other Allied air
forces, for a total of 10,949 inmates, including some support officers. The prison camp had a number of
design features that made escape extremely difficult. The digging of escape tunnels, in particular, was
discouraged by several factors. First, the barracks housing the prisoners were raised approximately 60 cm.
off the ground to make it easier for guards to detect any tunneling activity. Second, the camp itself had been
constructed on land that had a very sandy subsoil. The sand was bright yellow, so it could easily be datectad
if anyone dumped it on the surface (which consisted of grey dust), or even just had some of it on their
clothing. In addition, the loose, collapsible sand meant the structural integrity of a tunnal would be very
poor. A third defence against tunneling was the placement of seismograph microphones around the
perimeter of the camp, which were expected to detect any sounds of digging just below the surface.

The first successful escape oceurred in October 1943 in the East Compound. Conjuring up a modern Trojan
Horse, the kriegies constructed a gymnastic vaulting horse largely from plyweod from Red Cross parcels.
The horse was designed to conceal men, tools, and containers of dirt. Each day the horse was carried out to
the same spot near the perimeter fence, and while prisoners conducted

gymnastic exercises above, from under the horse a tunnel was dug. At the end of each working day, a
wooden board was placed back over the tunnel entrance and re-covered with surface dirt. The gymnastics
not only disguised the real purpose of the vaulting horse, but the activity kept the sound of the digging from
being detected by the microphones.

For three months three prisoners, Lieutenant Michael Codner, Flight Lieutenant Eric Williams, and Flight
Lieutenant Oliver Philpot, in shifts of one or two diggers at a time, dug over 100 feet (30 m) of tunnel using



bowls as shovels and metal rods to poke through the surface of the ground to create air holes. No shonng
was used except near the entrance. On the evening of 19 October 1943 21 Codner, Williams, and Philpot
made their escape. Willilams and Codner were able to reach the port of Stettin where they stowed away on a
Danish shup and eventually returned to Britain. Philpot, posing as a Norwegian marearine manufscturer, was
able to board a train fo Danzg (now Gdansk), and from there stowed away on a Swedish ship headed for
Stockholm, and from there repatnated to Britain. Accounts of this escape, long overshadowed by The Grear
Escape, were recorded in the book Goon in the Block (later retitled The Wooden Horse) by Williams, the
book Stelen Jowrney by Philpot. and the 1950 film The Wooden Horse. ™

Camp life

Kommandant Friednch Wilhelm von Lindeiner-Wildau, Kommandan:
of Stalag Luft 111.

The recommended dictary intake for a normal healthy inactive man is
2,150 calones. 2 Luft 111 issued "Non-working” German crvilian rations
which allowed 1,928 calories per day, with the balance made up from
Amencan, Canadian, and Brtish Red Cross parcels and items sent to
the POWSs by their families 21

As was customary at most camps, both Red Cross and individual parcels were pooled and
distributed 1o the men equally. The camp also had an official internal bartering system called a Foedacco —
POWs marketed surplus goods for "points” that could be "spent” on other items. ™ The Germans paid
captured officers the equivalent of their pay in mternal camp cumency {lagergeld), which was used to buy
what zoods were made available by the German administration. Every three months a weak beer was made
available in the canteen for sale. Luft 111 had the best-orgamsed recreational programme of any POW camp
in Germany. Each compound had athletic fields and volleyball courts. The prisoners participated in
basketball, softball, boxing, touch footkall, vollevball, table tenmis and fencing. with leagues organised for
most. A pool, 20 fect by 22 feet by 5 feet deep, used to store water for firefizhting, was occasionally
available for swimming. =

A substantial library with schooling facilites was availlable where many POWs earned degrees such
as languages, engineering or law. The exams were supplied by the Red Cross and supervised by academics
such as a Master of King's College who was a POW in Luft 111, The prisoners also built a theatre and put on
high-quality bi-weckly performances featuring all the current West End shows. The prisoners used the camp
arnplifier to broadeast a news and musie radio statton they named Siation KRGY, short for
Kricgsgefangener, a term meaning "POWs", and also published two newspapers, the Circwit and the Kriegic
Times, which were issued four times a week.

To prevent Germans from infilirating the prisoner population, newcomers to the camp had to be
personally vouched for by bwo existing POWs who knew the prisoner by sight. Anvone who fasled this
requirement was severely interrogated and assigned a rota of POWs who had to escort him at all times unil
he was deemed to be genuine. Several infiltrators were discovered by this method, and none are known to
have escaped detection in Luft 1. The German guards were referred to as "Geons” and, unaware of the
western connotation, willingly accepted the nickname after being told it stood for "German (Mficer Or Non-
Com". German guards were followed everywhere they went by prisoners, who used an elaborate system of
signals to wamn others of their location. The guards' movements were then carefully recorded in a logbook
kept by an assigned rota of officers. Unable to effectively stop what the prisoners called the "Duty Pillot™
svstem the Germans allowed it to continue and on one occasion the book was used by Kommandant von
Lindeiner to bring charges against two guards who had slunk away from duty several hours carly.

The camp's 200 Luftwaffe guards were primanly cither too old for combat duty or voung men
convalescing after long tours of duty or from wounds. Because the guards were Luftwaffe personnel, the
prisoncrs were accorded far better treatment than that granted to other POWs in Germany. Deputy
Commandant Major Gustay Simoleit, a professor of history, geography and ethnology before the war, spoke



several languages, including English, Russian, Polish, and Ceech. Transferred to Sagan in carly 1943, he
proved sympathetic to allied airmen. lgnonng the ban against extending military courtesies to POWs, he
provided full military honours for Luft 11T POW funerals, incleding one for a Jewish airman.

The "Great Escape"- In the spring of 1243, Squadron Leader Roger Bushell RAF conceived a plan for a
major escape from the camp, which cccurred the nmight of 24-235 March 1944, Bushell was held in the North
Compound where British and Commonwealth airmen were housed. He was in command of the Escape
Committee and channeled the effort into probing for weaknesses and looking for opportunities. Falling back
on his legal background to represent his scheme, Bushell called a meeting of the Escape Committee and not
only shocked those present with 1ts scope, but injected into cvery man a passionate determination to put their
every energy into the escape. He declared,

"Evervone here in this room 15 living on borrowed time. By rights we should all be dead! The only
reason that God allowed us this extra mton of life 15 so we can make Iife hell for the Hun _.. In North
Compound we are concentrating our efforts on completing and escaping through one master tunnel. No
privatc-enterpnse tunncls allowed. Three deep, long tunncls will be dug - Tom, Dick, and Harry. One will
succeed!"

The simultancous dizging of these tunnels would become an advantage if any one of them was
discovered by the Germans, because the guards would scarcely imagine that another two could be well
underway. The most radical aspect of the plan was not merely the scale of the construction, but the sheer
number of men that Bushell intended to pass through these tunnels. Previous attempts had involved the
escape of anything up to a dozen or twenty men, but Bushell was proposing to get in excess of 200 out, all of
whom would be wearing civilian clothes and possessing a complete range of forged papers and escape
equipment. [t was an unprecedented undertaking and would require unparalleled organization. As the
mastermind of the Great Escape, Roger Bushell inhernited the codename of "Big X". The tunnel "Tom™
began in a darkened comer next to a stove chimney in one of the buildings. "Dick™s entrance was carefully
hidden i a drain sump in one of the washrooms. The entrance to "Harry” was hidden under a stove. More
than 600 prisoners were involved in therr construction.

Tunnel construction- The tunnels were very deep — about 30 feet (9 m) below the surface. The unncls
were very small, only 2 feet (0.6 m) square, though larger chambers were dug to house the air pump, &
waorkshop, and staging posts along each tunnel. The sandy walls of the tunnels were shored up with pleces of
wood scavenged from all over the camp. One main source of wood was the prisoners' beds. At the
beginning, cach had about twenty boards supporting the mattress. By the time of the escape. only about eight
were left on each bed. A number of other preces of wooden furniture were also scavenged.

: : End of "Harry" End of
“Harry"” tunnel showing how close the exit was to the camp fence

A variety of other materials was also scavenged. One such item was Klim cans; tin cans that had
originally held powdered milk, supplicd by the Red Cross for the prisoners. The metal in the cans could be
fashioned into a variety of different tools and items such as scoops and candle holders. Candles were
fashioned by skimming the fat off the top of soup served at the camp and puthing it in tiny tin vessels. Wicks
were made from old and worn clothing. The maim use of the Klim tins, however, was in the construction of
the extensive ventilation ducting in all three tunnels. As the tunnels groew longer, a number of technical
innovations made the job easier and safer. One important issue was ensuring that the person digging had
enough oxyegen to breathe and keep his lamps lit. A pump was built to push fresh air along the ducting into



the tunnels - imvented by Squadron Leader Bob Melson of 37 Squadron. The pumps were built of odd
items mcluding major bed pieces, hockey sticks, and knapsacks, as well as Klim tns.

With three tunnels, the prisoners needed places to dump sand. The usual method of disposing of sand
was to discreetly scatter it on the surface. Small pouches made of towels or long underpants were
attached inside the prisoners” trousers. As the prisoners walked around, the sand would scatter.
Sometimes, the prisoners would dump sand inte small gardens that they were allowed to tend. As one
prisoner turned the soll, another would release sand while the two appeared to carry on a normal
conversation. The prisoncrs wore greatcoats to conceal the bulges made by the sand and were referred
to as "penguins" because of thewr supposed resemblance to the animal. In the sunny months sand
could be carried outside and scattered in blankets for sunbathing. More than 200 were recruited who
were to make an estimated 25,000 trips. The Germans were aware that something major was going
on, but all attemnpts to discover tunnels failed. In an attempt to break up any escape attempts, nineteen
of their top suspects were transferred without warning to Stalag VIIC. Of those, only six were
heavily invelved with tunnel construction. Errol was one of those who was transferred o Belana
January 1944 shortly before the escape oceurred.

Eventually, the prisoners felt they could no longer dump sand on the surface as the Germans became
too efficient at catching prisoners using this method. After "Dick's" planned exit surface became
covered by a camp expansion, the decision was made to start filling the tunnel up. As the unnel's
entrance was very well-hidden, "Dick™ was also used as a storage room for a variety of items such as
maps, postage stamps, forged travel permits, compasses, and clothing such as German uniforms and
civilian smis. A number of guards co-operated in supplying rallway timetables, maps, and the large
number of official papers required to allow them to be forged. Some genuine civilian clothes were
also obtained by bribing German staff with cigareties, coffee or chocolate. These were used by
escaping prisoners to travel away from the prison camp more easily — by train, if possible. Tunnel
"Harry™ completed -"Harrv” was finally ready in March 1944, but the American prisoners, some of
whom had worked on the tunnel "Tom," had been moved to another compound seven months carlier.
Contrary to what 15 suggested in the Hollywood film of the same name, no American prisoners of war
actually participated in the "great escape and no motor bike was in camp for prisoners.”

Previously, this escape attempt had been planned for the summer as good weather was a large factor
of success. However, in carly 1944 the Gestapo had visited the camp and ordered increased efforts in
detecting possible escape attemnpts. Bushell ordered the attempt be made as soon as the tunnel was
ready. OF the 600 prisoners who had worked on the tunnels only 200 would be able to escape in their
plan. The prisoners were separated into two groups. The first zroup of 100, called "serial offenders,”
wiere zuaranteed a place and included those who spoke German well or had a history of cscapes. plus
an additional 70 men considered to have put in the most work on the tunnels. The second group of
100, considered to have very little chance of success, had to draw lots to determine inclusion.

The prisoners had to wait about a week for a moonless might so that they could leave under the cover
of complete darkness. Finally, on Friday 24 March., the escape attempt began and as mght fell, those
allocated a place in the tunnel moved to Hut 104, Unfortunately for the prisoners, the exit trap door of
Harry was found to be frozen solid, and frecing the door delayed the escape for an hour and a half. An
even larger sethack was when 1t was discovered that the tunnel had come up short. It had been
planned that the tunnel would reach into a nearby forest but at 1030 p.m., the first man out emerged
Just short of the tree line and close to a guard tower. (According to Alan Burgess, in his book The
Longest Tunnel, the tunnel reached the forest, as planned, but the trees were too sparse to provide
adequate cover.)

As the temperature was below freczing and snow still lay on the ground, any escapee would leave a
dark trail while crawling to cover. Because of the need to now avoid sentries, mstead of the planned
one man every minute, the escape was reduced to little more than ten per hour. Word was eventually
sent back that no prisoner 1ssucd with a number higher than 100 would be able to escape before
daylight. As they would be shot if caught trying to return to their own barracks these men changed



it their own uniforms and got some sleep. Anoair raid then caused the camp's (and the tunncl’s)
electric lighting to be shut down slowing the escape even more. At around 1 a.m., the tunnel

collapsed and had to be repaired.

Despite these problems, 76 men crawled through the tunnel to initial freedom. Finallv, at 4:55 am. on
23 March, the 77th man was seen emerging from the twunnel by one of the zuards. Those already in
the trees began runming while a New Zealand Squadron Leader Leonard Henry Trent VO, who had
just reached the tree line stood up and surrendered. The guards had no idea where the tunnel entrance
was, 50 they began searching the huts, giving the men time to burn their fake papers. Hut 104 was one
of the last huts searched and despite using dogs the guards were unable to find the entrance. Finally,
German guard Charlie Pilz crawled the length of the tunnel but found himself trapped at the other
cnd. Pilz began calling for help and the prisoners opened the entrance to let lim out. finally revealing
the location.

An carly problem for the escapees was that most of them were unable to find the entrance to the
railway station until daylizht revealed it was in a recess in the side wall of an underground pedestrian
tunnel. Consequently, many of them missed their mght-time trains and cither decided o walk across
country or wait on the platform in davlhight. Another unanticipated problem was that this March was
the coldest recorded in 30 years and snow lay up to five feet deep. so the escapees had no option but
to leave the cover of woods and ficlds and use roads.

After the escape - Mationalities of the 50 executed prisoners:

8120 British; BE6 Canadian: mem6 Polish; SB5 Australian; me=3 South African; G2 New
Fealanders

= Morwegian: =1 Argentinian; 1n Belzian; B | Crechoslovak: B B Frenchman: ==1_
Greek

M| [ithuanian

Following the escape, the Germans took an inventory of the camp and found out just how
extensive the operation had been. Four thousand bed boards had gone missing, as well as the
complete disappearance of 90 double bunk beds, 635 mattresses, 192 bed covers, 161 pillow cases,
52 20-man tables, 10 single tables, 34 chairs, 76 benches, 1,212 bed bolsters, 1,370 beading battens,
1219 knives, 478 spoons, 5582 forks, 69 lamps, 246 water cans, 30 shovels, 1,000 feet (300 m) of
electric wire, 600 feet (120 m) of rope, and 3424 towels. 1,700 blankets had been used, along with
more than 1,400 Klim cans.HY The electric cable had been stolen after being left unattended by
German workers; as they had not reported the theft, they were executed by the Gestapo ™! From then
on each bed was supplied with only nine bed boards which were counted regularly by the guards.

Main article: Stalag Luft 11l murders

Of 76 escapees, 73 were captured. Adolf Hitler imitially wanted the escapers to be shot as an
example to other pnsoners, as well as Commandant von Lindemner, the architect who desizned the
camp. the camip's sccurity officer and the guards on duty at the time. Hermann Génng, Field Marshal
Keitel, Major-General Westhoff and Major-General von Gracvenitz, who was head of the department
in charge of prisoners of war, all argued agamst any executions as a violation of the Geneva
Conventions. Hitler eventually relented and instead ordered 55 head Himmler to execute more than
half of the escapees. Himmler passed the selection on to General Arthur Mebe, Fifty were executed
singlv or in pairs. Roger Bushell, the leader of the escape, was shot by Gestapo official Emil Schulz
Just outside Saarbrucken, Germany.



'Of Stirlings and Stalags: an air-gunner’s tale” by WE ‘Bill’ Goodman. P.186-188 Bill wrote
about Errol: Another cause of hilarity involved Errol Green and me. He now had his own crew and was

unlucky enough to have been shot down two or three weeks after we had. The Royal Australian Air Force
Wwas more generous in awarding commissions than the RAF (and so were the Air Forces of the other
Dominions). The form was that Errol, having accepted the offer, was issued with sufficient clothing
coupons to cover the tailoring of a new officer’s pattern uniform and the purchase of other items such as
greatcoats, raincoat, shirts, shoes etc. After a short time, when the uniform was judged to have been
obtained, the appointment was promulgated, and Errcl would move from our Sergeants’ Mess to the
Officers’ Mess. Apparently, Errol ordered his new uniforms and was awaiting the promulgation when he
was shot down. As luck would have it he joined us in Hut 40 and occupied the top bunk next to my own.
‘We both had one thing in common- we were both thinning slightly on top!

We RAF men were known in Britain as '‘Brylcreem’ boys, that being the popular hair dressing of the
day. In actual fact | did not use Brylcreem- my dressing was Vaseline Hair Tonic, but, whilst kidding myself
that | was not going bald, never the less, | was doing my best to make sure it would not happen. One of the
WAAF's back at Oakington who had worked as a hairdresser warned him that in her opinion it would not
be too long before he would be bald, and put the blame partly on the wearing of a close fitting flying
helmet which was bringing it on sooner than normal heredity would have done. She knew | was getting
towards the end of my tour of operations and would be posted elsewhere, and said it was a pity as she
thought a course of scalp massage would help, but there would hardly have been time for proper
treatment. As it happened, she was posted before she was able to show me how it should be done.

With this prediction of balding in mind, Errol and | discussed our problem and decided that, as the
shaving of one’s chin promoted a sturdier growth at the bottom of the skull, why should it not do the same
for the upper regions? The pair of us settled down in the hut with a mug of hot water, socap and an issue
razor, lathered each other's heads and shaved them clean of hair. We had quite an audience and, as | said
much hilarity and some ‘cutting’ comments. One of the Canadians likened our polished scalps to a *skating
rink for flies’: others coined the nicknames "flare path’ which was a landing strip lit with flares: and
‘pathway’ which lived with me during the whole time in camp. The WAAF hairdresser also said that oil
should be used to massage the scalp, but that was not available to we Kregies. The only oil available was
olive oil and the only supply of that came from tins of sardines which often came in the English Red Cross
parcels- and so we used that. The only problem was that of smell, so we were not welcomed by anyone in
the hut until we had washed our heads, which we had to do each night. However, sadly, my hair never
grew back lustrously and | eventually became almost totally bald!

Alsa for Errol!!]
A German photographer arrived without notice to take a photo of those at Stalag Luft 3
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ERROL WAS EVACUATED FROM Stalag Luft 111, Sagan shortly before the ‘The Great
Escape’ 24-25 March 1944,

In Errof's release papers from the air force in May 1945, he writes he was in Stalag Luft 111 from July 1942 —
Feb. 44 which was scratched over with Jan 45 when he left Sagan in Silesia for the long march toward Berlin.

A3 early as 1839, soon after invading Poland, Mazi Gemany established a systam of notorious Prisoner of War
camps in Zagan. In total, the Mannschafts-Stammiager Staleg VIIC and its subsidiaries held over 300,000 priscners
from some 30 different countries. It is estimated that around 120,000 of them died of hunger, disease and malreatment.
Later, in 1842, an additional camp was sat up for Allied pilots, called Sialag Lot 312
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The compound of “Betaria® which was a short distance northeast of the city of Sagan was opened at the beginning of 1944, and
seamed 1o be a more secure compound used 1o incarcerste thoae kriegies who were suspectad of being trouble mekers or part of
escape stbempts. THE LOG, the camp newspaper of 10 July 1944, reported the camg & 728 officers and MCO's: Brilish 449; Canadian
1B4; Australian 40; New Zealand 28; South Africa 27; and three rabbits of uncartain parentage. The compound operated as a separate
unit, but received some suppoart from the main Staleg. No facilities for hot water, or baths, 5o the prisoners were marched around the
town to the other camp for showers and delousing.

Belaria was the last compound evacuated). From 2B.1.1845, many of the priscners, particularly British and
Commonwealth, were marched westward ahead of the Soviet offensive. The German camp command destroyed all
documentation and evidence of the crimes committed. The route traversed to Spremberg was different than the others,
being north and more direct to Muskau. At Spremberg, Errol was sent by catile truck to Luckenwalde. -where Errol spent
from 5% February1945- May1345).

On the long (death) march Emol managed to get a billy can and so he could then get hot water from the farms and Errcd
also spoke with gratitude about geting apples that were put into his pocket which had a big hole that allowed apples to
fall into the lining of his coat. He was very grateful far the generosities of the German farm women who he noticed were
VEry Qoo



[Forced March Route: German & Polish Town Names

SLIII March Routa
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During World War |, 5talag Luft Ill was in a portion of Germany that over time was claimed by both Germany and
Foland (or the countries that preceded them). Historical research on this area can therefore be a little confusing
because towns were often known by both Germian and Polish names. At this time, the remains of Stalag Luft 1l are in
Poland. This photo provides a list of the towns that the Stalag Luft 11l POWs walked through during the forced march of
Winter, 1945 (click on the photo for a bigger view of it). It provides both the German and Polizh name for each town.
The last name on this list is Muskau. After Muskau, all the remaining towns on the march were in territory that, before
and after the war, was part of Germany, and those towns never had Polizsh names. The march ended in Spremberg,
Germany.
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CHRISTMAS IN BELARIA 1944

By December 1944, Stalag Luft Il was overcrowded and prisoners, who had long relied on Red Cross parcels to
supplement their poor rations from their Luftwaffe captors, were down to half a parcel, per man, per week. Bruce
Lumsden, a navigator from 195 Sguadron, whose Lancaster had crashed in Allied territory in early Novemnber 1944,
found himself in Stalag Luft 1Il's Belaria satellite compound, settling into one of the 12 barrack-type huts which
contained five 20 foot square rooms, with a smaller one for the block leader ([dubbed by his underlings, the
Blackhead).

Lumsden's new quarters was crammed with six three-tiered bunks, a table with eighteen stools, a bench-top
cupboard to store food, and a cast iron stove which, if there were any briquettes on offer, would heat the room. His
bed, in an overcrowded space, in an overcrowded camp where he would never be truly alone, was his ‘own small
piece of territory”.

Lumsden joined seventeen others in Room 7, Block 18. They were a mixed bunch of seven RAF men, five from the
USAAF, one South African, one Canadian, one New Zealander, and three Australians. As well as adjusting to captivity,
they had to learn to live with each other. John Dack of 463 Squadron, one of the other Australians, had a head start.
He had been captured with his crew member, Canadian Frank Major and had met Lumsden at the interrogation
centre. Cy Borsht, another Australian and also from 463 Squadron, had been lost on the same operation as Dack and
Major. Dack recalled that “Cy is much shorter than me and we were known as Mutt and Jeff. I'm not sure who was
which. He had the ability ta bring people together in quite close relationships’. Generally speaking, Borsht succeeded
but it was very much an eternal joint effort to maintain cordiality. There was one squeaky wheel —'an overbearing

character' —one of the Americans. But, as in any family, he was tolerated, because 'he was one of us'.

Each room was called a ‘mess'. The inhabitants pooled their Red Cross parcels and scrupulously shared everything
out. Everyone in the mess had his own task. Some groups rotated the jobs, others designated them permanently to
the individuals. Although he had no great aptitude for it, Lumsden agreed to be his mess's cook. To volunteer for
such a position was particularly courageous. If he failed, the mess starved. Happily, he proved more than competent
in his new role. Dack remembered that meal times were ‘generally very pleasant social occasions, mainly due to
Bruce's patience and understanding, and above all, his ability to make things palatable.’

Long term prisoners had hoped that the war would be over by Christmas. By the time Lumsden arrived, it was all too
obvious that that would not be the case. Lumsden and his new friends soon set about planning their Christmas
dinner. Old stagers had been planning for months. They had saved up little titbits from when the Red Cross parcels
had been plentiful and some had already had quite 2 good store cupboard of festive niceties. Lumsden’s mess,
however, ‘were the newest kriegies’, with few stored up supplies, because ‘desperate hunger drove us to eat every
crumb and morsel of our meagre rations’. Lumsden worried if it would be possible, from our slender resources, to
place on the table on Christmas Day a meal that even slightly resembled a traditional Christmas Dinner?’ Somehow,

they would do it.

Mobby Clarke, who, as ‘quartermaster’, was in charge of the pantry, started eking out their rations even more
stringently. He sliced the bread thinner, he scraped the margarine =o finely that the bread had barely a covering. He
swiped the tastiest iterns from the parcels before Lumisden could even start planning his next meal. Somehow,
almaost miraculously, the ‘goon rations’ one day included semoling and molasses, and a Christmas parcel from the
American Red Cross arrived full of nutritional “wealth beyond our wildest dreams’.

The most precicus items in Nobby Clarke’s pantry were the ingredients for the Christmas pudding. In a recipe that
bears no resemblance whatsoever to anything from my family cook book, Lumsden mixed together crumbled crusts
of Reich bread, a chocolate D-bar, semolina, crumbled American biscuits, raisins, prunes, sugar, molasses, margarine,



Klim powdered milk, four 4 cups of pre-cooked barey, a tin of orange juice, a spoonful of coffee and a pinch of salt.

‘When Lumsden had finished blending the mixture—all 21 pounds of it—each man honoured the age old tradition of
stirring the pudding and making a wish. None revealed his wish —it would not come true! But, as Lumsden recalled,
decades later, “you may be sure that the same wish came from every heart.”

Pudding stirred, wishes completed, the mixture was poured into a calico bag, tied up, boiled for four hours, and then
hung from the rafters 'to await the day”.

Lurmnsden also made a Christmas cake from a combination of scrounged and saved camp ingredients and American
Red Cross largesse. Despite Lumsden's lack of culinary skill, his mess had faith in him. \When the cake came out of the
oven, "‘with the whaole mess watching eagerly, it looked and smelt superb!”

Pudding and cake sorted, it was time to deck the halls, just like they, or their families would have done if it had been
a normal Christmas at home. Decorations were of the home made variety and improvisation was the name of the
game in a camp where every man was trying to create a festive air with scant resources. Toilet paper was turned into
streamers, coloured by crayons, and were festooned from wall to rafter. They saved white card from the Red Cross
parcels and lohn Dack and Cy Borsht, Room 7's other Australians who had artistic talents (they were both studying
architecture) produced individual table menus. As much as they could, Lumsden and his friends created a sense of
home and celebration in the dingy prison room.

And then it was Christmas day.

Each man who had arrived in camp had experienced some sort of trauma—crash landing in flames; baling out; battle
wounds; death of comrades; survivor guilt—not to mention the despair of being taken prisoner and assorted
difficulties in adjusting to captivity. Each man was older tham his years and yet, to Lumsden, “the joy and excitement
of Christmas maoming was close to child-like in its unabashed naiveté. It is not possible to explain how war-hardened
young men, bocked up in a prison camp in far-off eastern Europe in mid-winter could be so softened by the
conscicusness that it was Christmas morning.”

After a breakfast that in itself seemed a feast, morning appel and a short church service, they began their
preparations for their biggest meal since imprisonment. They decided not to serve dinner until after the 3 o'clock roll
call, so they wouldn't be interrupted. Lumsden started boiling the pudding at 1.30 pm and it "boiled merrily away at
the back and other pots and cooking dishes were in place’.

#s he stood at the stove, stirring and checking, and breathing in the aroma of a well-cooked and much anticipated
meal, Paul Louis .. a most likeable American lew and a friend of mine’ asked if the deeply religious Lumsden would
say grace before the meal. Lovis may not have shared Lumsden's faith but he knew that Christmas was more than
just a religious celebration. It represented family and hope. "“Somehow’, Lumsden recalled, Louis “felt this was the
meaost significant and should not be omitted”. Even so, he was reluctant.

‘While imprisonment tested the faith of many men, Lumsden had found succour, strength and comfort from the
Christiam fellowship of a bible study and prayer group. They, however, were in the minority and were, perhaps,
treated as suspect by the majority: in a camp which had developed its own language—"kriegie-speak’—Lumsden and
his friends had their own entry in the camp lexicon: 'god botherer’. Given this, ‘I protested that other members of
the mess might object. But he had already put it to the company and the desire, he told me, was unanimous.” Cy
Borsht was one whao valued faith, regardless of creed. He and his close crew had worshipped together. As Dack
recalled, they took "turns to visit each other's church, or, in Cy's case, the Synagogue.”



Lumsden ‘was much touched.” They may have come from all walks of life, but Lurmsden's mess had formed their own
family—symbaolised as much as anything by the sharing of 'household’ tasks, and the solemn stirring of the Christmas
pudding—and they had much to be grateful for, despite their situation. He accepted Louis' invitation to say grace.

And so, "_we rushed back to the hut [after appel] hardly able to contain our excited anticipation. | cannot remember
the words | used in my grace, but | recall the guiet participation of every man present, especially when | expressed
our thoughts for our homes and families and for our return to them soon”.

Grace said, very item on the menu was carefully shared out eightean ways. Then, tin plates laden, the men ate and
enpoyed the tantalising flavours. John Dack recalled that ‘not one of us could possibly forget the emations of that
particular Christrnas Day.” He believed that their memorable day had been because of the “character of one man,
and his ability to make us all feel as one. That is apart from his ability to feed us." But each man in that mess had all
played their part in creating a small sense of home despite the difficulties of captivity: the "twice daily appels,
ablutions, discussions sometimes bardering on arguments, talking and dreaming about foad, trying to find
something to read, anything to find relief from the ever present boredom.’

Christrnas is a day of sharing, for remembering happy times, and for looking towards the future. When Cy Borsht
artistically renderad the Belaria "Wmas Bash® in his wartime log book, ilustrating the Christrmas tree, fully laden table
and a smiling cook halding the plum pudding, he made a slip of the pen. When he recorded the date, he noted it as
25 Decemnber 1945, Perhaps he was dreaming of a future Christmas, with the same sense of happiness and festivity,
but in & time of peaca.

Peace would come, but not for many months, and Lurnsden and his friends would endure much hardship befora thay
returned horme and to their own families. One thing was certain: ‘'Every man knew that as long as he lived, this had
been a Christrnas dinner that he would never forget.’

This account of Christmas in Belaria for three Australians and their wartime companions i drawn from the
recollections of Bruce Clyde Lurnsden and Irwin lohn Dack. | would appreciate any assistance in locating their
families. [The illustration comes from another source.)

linclude a link for one of rmy favourite Christras carols. It is a newish version of The Litde Drummer Boy by my
fawvourite singer and his Christmas guest. it includes a special wish for the peace on earth that Bruce Lumsden, lohn
Dack, Cy Borsht and their comrades fought for.

hetps:/fwww.youtube com/watch v=ADbILodx-th

Kristen Alexander at 22:41




EVACUATION AMD LONG MARCHES BACK INTO GERMANY AWAY FROM THE ALLIES...

As the Soviet Army was advancing, German authorities decided to evacuate POW camps, to delay
liberation of the prisoners. At the same time, hundreds of thousands of German civilian refugees, most of
them women and children, as well as civilians of other nationalities, were also making their way westward
on foot, in hazardous weather conditions. "The March" refers to a series of forced marches during the final
stages of the Second World War in Europe. From a total of 257,000 western Allied prisoners of war held in
German military prison camps, over 80,000 POWs were forced to march westward across Poland,
Czechoslovakia, and Germany in extreme winter conditions, over about four months between January and
April 1945, This series of events has been called various names: "The Great March West", "The Long
March", "The Long Walk", "The Long Trek", "The Black March", "The Bread March”, and "Death
March Across Germany”, but most survivors just called it "The March".

REFERENCE FROM: RAF - The Lo h Histo
www.raf.mod.uk » History » Anniversary of the Long March

Histerical Background. Towards she closing stages of she Second World War Soviet forces edged

into Gerrrany provoking one of the most incredible et hidden ..
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The Long March History

Historical Background

Towards the closing stages of the Second World War Soviet forces edged into Germany provoking one of
the most incredible yet hidden stories of courage and stamina in RAF history.

Throughout the war the Hitler’s Third Reich held hundreds of thousands of Allied Prisoners of War in a
comprehensive network of POW camps across the Germany and the occupied territories. The vast majority
of R.AF aircrew were housed in Stalag Luft camps such as Stalag Luft | at Barth and Stalag Luft II1 at
Sagan in Silesia. The story of these institutions stands alone, however as the Red Army approached the
Germans faced a major problem — how to deal with the POW s,

Hitler was well aware of the impending situation on the Eastern Front as early as July 1944 and on the 19th
of July (one day before the assassination attempt) he issued orders for the 'Defence of the Reich’. Amongst
these orders was the decision to evacuate the Prisoner of War camps in the eastern territories and march the
inmates towards the rump of Germany around Saxony and the north arcund Libeck and Hamburg, It was
this decision that set in motion the events of the Long March in the winter months of 1944-45.



Forced to march hundreds of miles in wretched conditions with little food, water or accommodation, R.AF
prizoners were subjected to a horrendous ordeal; hundreds died of starvation or discase, scores collapsed
through malnutntion and exhaustion. The Long March became one of the most extraordinary chapters in
Roval Air Force history — and one of the least known about.

The ordeal of the Stalag Luft 111
prisoners was harsh and confusing,
typical of the arduous march towards an
uncertain fate. Marching from the gates
of the camp at Sagan through the
wooded countryside of Silesia and
towards Berlin, the prisoners stopped
off at small hamlets and towns along
the route. Staving in makeshift barns
and abandoned factories, they hunted
for food and tried to rest as best they

could.

Adding to the misery of the march. the temperatures plummeted and the thick snow made the arduous
Journey a hizht for survival — arman who had endured captivity for over five years collapsed by the roadside
of exhaustion and malnutrition, cold and fever. Errol mentioned that during his “long march’ he was
suffering from conjunctivitis...very sore eves and how grateful he was, on one hand, to be able scoop some
of the snow up to soothe his eves... but it was bitterly cold...

“By the time we reached Friewaldaii we were all exhausted, hungry and delinious with cold. The thick snow
and ice made the journey torturous and led to many of my colleagues collapsing by the roadside.
Crecasionally we'd get a scrap of food or some liguid.. . [ can only desceribe it as liguid because we didn™
know what it was!™. Flymg Officer 5. Parker, Stalag Luft [11. Eventually the Sagan party halted in the town
of Spremberg and from there they were fanned out across Germany in a mixture of cattle trucks and rmlway
box cars. Spremberg, a small town eighty kilometres south of Berlin was bursting with prisoners and
refuzees, retreating soldiers and former concentration camp inmates; the scene was horrific and confusing,

The Long March became etched into the history of the RAF and sits proudly alongside the Battle of Britain
and the Strategic Bomber Offensive.

Images: Imperial War Muscum



From the Book “Mission Incomplete” by Australian Dudley Hannaford
“Rumours of the rapidly advancing army of General Patton continued to be rife.

Every day we seemed to hear something new, but we didn 't know what or who to believe. The
prospect of being released by an Allied army was something we had been longing and praying for. But the
big day of moving out came on Wednesday, 4™ April 1945, The whole camp was to be put on the road with
little notice. We didn't have much time to prepare but just enough time to orgamse any gear we had
accumulated, amything needed for any long trek. All we had was to fit into a backpack issued to us all by the
American Red Cross, for which we were most grateful.

These items included recently acquired cating utensils, any bits of food remaining from our Red
Cross parcels, toiletries such as soap, towel, blanket and a change of clothing as supplied by the
International Red Cross. Because of the weight of the pack and increasing weanness and weakness,
treasured items gradually had to be abandoned along the road. No-one scemed to have any regrets about
leaving but at the same time we were once azain filled with apprehension and uncertainty. At least we were
on the move and we hoped General Patton and his army were making good progress and would soon catch
up with us. There was some temporary elation when we realized we were free from the constraints of barbed
wire.

Organisation of such an enterprise by the Germans was not easy and 1t took some time to get going.
We had marched along the road for only an hour and fifteen minutes when we spotted some fighter-bombers
overhead and recognised them as American Thunderbolts (P47s). This was a glorious sight but one which
we came to regret. Their target was a railway bridee about two kilometres ahead of us. They managed o
direct hit and then turned for home. But as they tumed, two of them swooped down on us, one following the
other at low altitude and high speed right along the full length of the column strafing as they went. As many
a5 were able, both kriegies and guards, took to the deep muddy ditches on each side of the road and hoped
for the best. We were totally devastated to think this was being done to us by our allies. When we picked
ourselves up we were absolutely soaked in mud. Sadly fellow kriegies were killed and injured.

Much confusion and panic followed, both among the kriegies and the guards and it was a long time
before we got zoing again. Some of the kricgies decided to make a break for it in the madst of it all but were
shot at when they were spotted going over a rise to the railway line. Afier a number of hours the column of
people ‘bivouacked' in the woods on the left hand side of the road in the midst of a forest. The Germans saw
fit not to 1ssue us with any rations for the day, but thankfully they could nibble from their Red Cross parcels.
To add to our woes 1t later began raiming and it rained right through the night. It was batterly cold, wet and
miscrable time.

With little or no sleep over might we moved off from the woods next morning at 0800, Long before
this the guards had to do a count and some were sent into the woods to round up all the stragglers. Many
were missing and never aceounted for. Around noon, we had a long halt when we were afforded a ringside
scat witnessing Mumberg again being furiously bombed, by the Amernican Flying Fortresses. The sight of all
this caused the whole column, especially the guards, to become jittery and quite confused. As we were nght
under their flight path we wondered whether we could again be a target. As expected, in the distance we saw
two P47s coming our way again. No one waited for orders. We were in the ditches in a flash, this time to
find a greater depth of water and mud caused by the heavy overnizght rain.

But instead of swooping down the length of the column they both flew across us at low range
wagzing their wings and waving as they went. When we first spotted them evervone was petrificd. but when
we witnessed this friendly gesture we were up on our feet and a great cheer went up. We hoped it was their
way of apologising... We saw several Allied areraft flving over us throughout the day. So we set to work
and made a large P.OW. sign out of toilet paper and Red Cross uns. We made the sign so big it would have
to be eusily seen from the air. We didn't want any repetition of what happened that first day oot.”



iTaken frem The March (1945) - Wikipedia. the free encyclopedia)

Experiences of a Prisoner of a War: World War 2 in Germany jmvhorg article fexperiences-ofa-prisoner

of-a-war-werld-war-2-in-germany
Experiences of a POW: World War 2 in Germany. By Eric Stephensan In Reprinted Articles |ssue Volume 18 Na_ 2 |
Eric was evacuated from Belaria into Germany. .. following the same trail as Errol did. This is his report.

January and February 1945 were among the coldest winter months of the 20th century in Europe, with
blizzards and temperatures as low as 25 °C (13 °F), and even until the middle of March, temperatures
were well below 0 °C (32 °F). Most of the POWs were ill-prepared for the evacuation, having suffered
vears of poor rations and wearing clothing ill-suited to the appalling winter conditions. In most camps, the
POWs were broken up in groups of 250 to 300 men and because of the inadequate roads and the flow of
battle, not all the prisoners followed the same route. The groups would march 20 to 40 kilometers a day -
resting in factories, churches, bams and even in the open. Scon long columns of POWSs were wandering over
the northern part of Germany with little or nothing in the way of food, clothing, shelter or medical care.

Prisoners from different camps had different experiences: sometimes the Germans provided farm wagons for
those unable to walk. There seldom were horses available, so teams of POW's pulled the wagons through the
snow. Sometimes the guards and prisoners became dependent on each other, other times the guards became
increasingly hostile. Passing through some villages, the residents would throw bricks and stones, and in
others, the residents would share their last food. Some groups of prisoners were joined by German civilians
who were also fleeing from the Russians. Some who tried to escape or could not go on were shot by guards.
Those with intact boots had the dilemma of whether to remove them at night - if they left them on, trench
foot could result; if they removed them. they may not get their swollen feet back into their boots in the
maorning or, worse, the boots may freeze or be stolen.™

With so little food they were reduced to scavenging to survive. Some were reduced to eating dogs and cats

and even rats and grass—anything they could lay their hands on. Already underweight from years of
prison rations, some were at half their pre-war body weight by the end. Because of the unsanitary conditions
and a near starvation diet, hundreds of POWSs died of disease along the way and many more were ill.
Drysentery was common: sufferers had the indignity of soiling themselves whilst having to continue to
march, and being further weakened by the debilitating effects of illness. This disease was easily spread from
one group to another when they followed the same route and rested in the same places. Many POWs
suffered from frosthite which could lead to gangrene. Typhus, spread by body lice, was a risk for all FOWSs,
but was now increased by using overnight shelter previously ccoupied by infected groups. Some men simply
froze to death in their sleep.[*E4

In addition to these conditions were the dangers from air attack by Allied forces mistaking the POWs for
retreating columns of German troops. On April 19, 1945, at a village called Gresse, 30 Allied POWs died
and 30 were seriously injured {possibly fatally) in a "friendly-fire” situation when strafed by a flight of BAF
Tyvphoons. P 7A s winter drew to a close, suffering from the cold abated and some of the German guards
became less harsh in their treatment of POWs. But the thaw rendered useless the sledges made by many
POWSs to carry spare clothing, carefully preserved food supplies and other items. So. the route became
littered with items that could not be carried. Some even discarded their greatcoats, hoping that the weather
did not turn cold again ®! As the columns reached the western side of Germany they ran into the advancing
western Allied armies. For some, this brought liberation. Others were not so lucky. They were marched
towards the Baltic Sea, where Nazis were said to be using POWs as human shields and hostages. It was later
estimated that a large number of POWs had marched over five hundred miles by the time they were
liberated, and some had walked nearly a thousand miles.



LONG MARCH JANUARY 1545

Errol Green was on the Long March in the winter of January 1945, Dad did mention he had been on a march but
from previous experience | rarely ventured to ask what he meant by the term so it just remained harmless in my
memory. The stories he did share were enticing:

1. He and a guard went to a farm house to get apples. Dad had a coat with a pocket which had a hole so the apples
tumbled into the lining of his coat and he had many apples to share. 2. He had conjunctivitis and he found snow
was soothing to his sore eyes. 3. He had a billy can [he was a farmer so had a good eye to spot useful itermns) which
he had to keep hidden but was good to get hot water on those very cold days. He had to hide his can as

such items could so he said cost him his life if found 4. He mentioned German ladies bashed the guards to give the
prisoners some provisions of milk and bread. | felt Dad tried to make his stories have a positive note so as a child
even as teenager it confused me as to why he seemed at times so unpredictable. | didn’t understand why he was
so different from other Aussie Dad’s.

S0 in this story line | am using stories from the Stalag Luft 3 club told by 2 English men |Les Rutherford and Fred
Hooker died April 2019) who did this actual march from Belaria to Spremberg and then by cattletruck to
Luckenwalde. Maybe Dad could have experienced and told some of these stories too.

The Royal Air force in Britain recently issued a report on the Long march:

As the Soviet Army advanced on Poland, Nax Germany evacuated Prisoner of War camps to prevent
the early liberation of POW?s by the Russians.

Owver 0,000 Allied POW?s were forced to march towards Germany away from the Soviet advance.
The POW?’s marched around 1000 km from POV camps in Poland towards Germany, in one of the
coldest winters of the twentleth century. Temperatures reached below -20deg C. From late 1944 to
early 1945, over 2,000 Allled servicemen perished, mostly from exposure (hypothermia), fatigue,
starvation, dysentery, despair, disease and through misidentification by Allied Alr Forces in what
later became known as the *Long March’.

Les Rutherford’s wartime log book released on line through the Stalag Luft 3 club on Facebook...Les
(British) was In Belaria the same camp as Dad before he was forced to march Into Germany in the
face of the Russian army arriving in January 1945. 1 took the Information Les shared in Belaria
leading up to the march leading to entering the final camp Luckenwald. The information from this
last camp Luckenwald was very interesting as Dad fled the camp and mingled In with the refugees as
soon as the Nazi camp officers left on April 22nd 1945, Dad didn’t want to wait for the Russians and
with good reason as the Russians delayed those who staved (who didn't take the chance to flee)
almost an extra month...by then Errol was already back in England.

JANUARY 20 Terrific surge in optimism in camp. New Russian offensive brings them today within
100 miles of Sagan. Lorries containing civillan refugees and luggage beginning to pass camp.
JANUARY 23 Refugees passing camp all day long mostly in horse drawn carts,

Red Cross parcel issues were reduced to one full parcel per man per week. Future supply of Goon
rations-doubtful. Preparation for March in full swing in case we are moved out. Kit bags being
converted to haversacks and packs. Special cake made from barley, Klim cocoa and sugar.
JANUARY 25 Nearest polnt of Russian advance now only 50 miles from us. Gunfire heard at
frequent intervals during the day. Refugees still pouring along the road.

JANUARY 26, ...20 RAF., NCOs arvived at 11 P from camp on the Polish Ceech frontier. They
were among 1500 evacuated from the Czech frontler & days agoe - had been on road since. Tonight™s



sick arrlvals did last two days of trip to Belarla by rall. Rest of party still on road somewhere living on
infrequent Goon rations and finding rough going through snow and fce.

From The Story of Stalag Luft 3 Part IX The March Artefacts and Recollections:

MNothing in Shakespeare could match the impact of the short speech delivered in the middle of the second act of
"You can’t take it with you' at the South Compound Theatre on the night of 27" January 1245, Making an
unscripted entrance Colonel Charles G. Goodrich, the senior American officer, strode centre stage and announced:
The Goons have just given us 30 minutes to be at the front gate! Get your stuff together and line
upl!”

At his 4:30 staff meeting in Berlin that very afternoon, Adolf Hitler had issued the order to evacuate Stalag Luft 1l
He was fearful that the 11,000 Allied airmen in the camp would be liberated by the Russians. Hitler wanted to
keep them as hostages. A spearhead of Soviet Marshal lvan Konev's Southern Army had already pierced to within
20 kilometers of the camp.

In the barracks following Colonel Goodrich’s dramatic announcement, there was a frenzy of preparation - of
improvised packsacks being loaded with essentials, distribution of stashed food, and of putting on layers of
clothing against the Silesian winter [below -20degC).

As the men lined up outside their blocks, snow covered the ground six inches deep and was still falling. Guards
with sentinel dogs herded them through the main gate. Outside the wire, Kriegies waited and were counted, and
waited again for two hours as the icy winds penetrated their multilayered clothes and froze stiff the shoes on their
feet. Finally, the South Camp moved out about midnight.

Qut front, the 2,000 men of the South Camp were pushed to their limits and beyond, to clear the road
for the 8,000 men behind them. Hour after hour, they plodded through the blackness of night, a blizzard
swirling around them, winds driving near-zero temperatures

JANUARY 27. At 9 P.M. given 1/2 hours’ notice to move, Packed all kit, available food (very little)
change of clothing, shaving kit. 3 blankets. Faraded about 10 P.M. hung areund in snow for nearly an
hour then sent back to barracks. Big industrial effort on sleigh making. Surplus cigarettes burnt,
gramophone records broken so that the Germans couldn’t use them.

WWII veteran Fred Hooker recalls the Long March ww 11 Veteran Fred Hooker video recalls his
Long March recorded by Thomas Ozel August 2017

WWII veteran Fred Hooker recalls escaping from his POW camp

From Fred Hooker: Christmas 1944 heard they would move to another camp as the Russian forces were
approaching. Fred heard and saw US air force planes.

27" January 1945 they were called to Parade, heads were counted to see no one had escaped. They
stood in the snow dressed in the Red Cross coat they were given at their initial interrogation centre
together with any woollen items they had and all their belongings. They were issued with shaving gear
and wash items for which they were grateful as they couldn’t wash for 2 weeks. Here they were
informed they would be leaving camp later that day (destination unknown). Then they were sent back to
their billets.



28" Jlanuary 3am called to parade. It was snowing and very cold. At 8am they set off on a march which
slowed more to a walking pace. They stopped a few hours later and camped in a farm building for the
night.

JANUARY 28. Paraded again at about 5.30 — snowing — finally moved out of camp at about 7 AM. -
about 1100 of us. 80 sick left behind. One Red Cross parcel per man issued on leaving camp.

Passed through SAGAN where many clvilian refugees on roads. Passed EAST and NORTH
compounds which had been evacuated around 4AM. Marched [number missing] KMS and reached
village of SORAV late In afternoon, where we were billeted In barn to sleep. Boots soaking wet from
davs march in snow — froze overnight. Learnt that total destination is 70 KMS.

JANUARY 29, Started marching again at 8AM. About mid-day Frank and I fell in with Jack and
George who were dragging a slelgh. They wanted someone to share In the pulling so we were only too
glad of the chance and put our kit on the slelgh. Golng very much easler. Marched [number missing]
KMS reaching village of [name missing] where we hedded down for the night in barns.

From Fred Hooker’s memoirs spoken 2017:

The next day they walked till they came to a used brick yard. Some men were lucky to be sleeping under
cover while the rest slept out in the open.

21* they were on the move again. Some hoped they could stay and make contact with the Russian
forces. They tried to hide behind a pile of pallets but a German guard dog spotted them. They were
thankful the guard controlled his dog so he didn't attack them. The guard then sent them to the front of
the gueue for the night march so they were in the sight of the guards and chief officer of the camp. Here
they encountered how difficult it was for those leading the march having to work with snow up to their
walst and needing to dig their way through. The night march started at 8 pm. During the night they were
informed if they didn"t get over the Oder River by 8am in the morning they would be left to the mercy of
the Russian forces. For some unknown reason they got over the bridge with its many big holes from
various bombings. At this stage Fred and his 3 mates (men part of his original crew from his shot down
plane and also Prisoners of war with him) made a sledge from an old broken ladder found at the brick
yvard and with their suitcases tied on top. They climbed on top of this homemade sledge with all their
clothing piled on to keep them warm when they suddenly realized they were all alone with no one else
in sight. The snow was ey by then. They did eventually cateh up with the tail end of the main group.
Then a short time after 8am they heard the bridge being blown up.

That morning they went to a farm. For about an hour they all made hay for the farmer while he finished
milking his cows. The farmer turned his cows out into the snowy fields. Fred and his 3 mates chose the
cow stalls for sleeping. It was just big enough for the four of them to sleep in that area. As the cows had
been there overnight they had to clear the area of cow droppings and cover the area with hay before
Iying down. It was hard and cold. They had no food. For a number of days they lay down in barns and
cow stalls. At one stage they couldn’t find their boots with the men shifting at night for various reasons
the hay covered their boots. Eventually the boots were found. Maybe it was here Errol Green and the
guard asked for apples.



Les Rutherford’s diary:

JANUARY 30. No marching today. Spent day repairing sleigh, cooking, bartering cigarettes for bread
and resting. Reported sick. Blisters on feet and one chilblain. Rumour that we are entraining at
SPREMBERG. Goons Issued 1/2 cups of boeiled barley per man in the morning.

JANUARY 31. On the road again. Pretty rough going over hills. Few minor calamities with sleigh.
Covered [number missing] KMS. Arriving at MUSKAY In evening. In barns again. Had first wash
since leaving BELARIA.

FEBRUARY 15T Mo march today. Heavy thaw during night continued during day. Ground unfit for
slelgh pulling tomorrow. Goons issued 1/2 cup of barley per man and 1/5 of a loaf per man.
FEBRUARY 1. Set out today on what Is promised as last lap of journey to train. Americans taken
separately to a different destination. Sleligh abandoned and kit carried on back. Goons provided a
horse and wagon to carry Ked Cross parcels which were issued at BELARIA. Weather fine for
wialking. Walked [number missing] KMS. Spent night just outside SPREMBERG in barns. Goons
Issmed 1/7 of a loaf per man.

FEBRUARY 3. Marched to Panzer training school barracks at SPREMBERG where we were given
first respectable meal of march, a bowl of pig swill, refreshing if not appetizing. Joined by about 400
of the chaps from EAST COMPOUNID. Left in afternoon for station. Entrained in cattle trucks, 45
men toa truck. Goons issued 1/5 of a loaf per man.

From 5talag Luft 3 Club: From The Story of Stalag Luft 3 Part IX The March Artefacts and Recollections:

At 2:00 a.m. on January 29, they stumbled into Muskau and found shelter on the floor of a tile factory. They
stayed there for 30 hours before making the 15.5-mile march to Spremberg, where they were jammed into
boxcars recently used for livestock. With 50 to 60 men in a car designed to hold 40, the only way one could sit was
in a line with others, toboggan-fashion, or else half stood while the other half sat. It was a 3-day ordeal, locked in
a moving cell becoming Increasingly fetid with the stench of vomit and excrement. The only ventilation In the cars
came from tweo small windows near the ceiling on opposite ends of the cars. The train lumbered through a frozen
countryside and bombed-out cities. Along the way, Colonel Goodrich passed the word autherizing escape
attempts. In all, some 32 men felt in good enough condition to make the try. In 36 hours, all had been recaptured.

From Fred Hooker's memaoirs 2017:

Thankfully they were told the march was over and they would now travel by train ending with another
small march. The train in reality a goods/cattle truck 65 men in each which was a bit crowded. As there
was no toilet bucket a corner of the truck was left to relieve themselves. The stench was awful and as
they were locked in the truck the men squashed closer together to get further away from ‘the corner’.
The night before they had discovered a tub of molasses which they thought was similar to treacle, but in
reality was farm molasses used to make silage for the cattle. What a mistake in view of their situation
now...it was no holiday for those who had eaten the farm molasses. Nearly everyone was affected. The
trucks finally stopped in the countryside and they were allowed out. Most got out but had trouble
getting back in as they had stopped by fields where there was no platform. They helped each other in
and even the German guards gave a helping hand. Finally they reached their destination with a short
walk to camp Luckenwalde. There were crowds of men at the gate to see who the newcomers were to
Stalag 111A...an old army camp.

Before entering the gate they had to stand outside, be photographed for their identity cards. Eventually they got
into camp Luckenwalde. These huts had no bunks. They were open huts to house 200 men to a hut. Once inside
Fred and his friends found a spot to camp close together.



From Les Rutherford’s diary:

FEBRUARY 4. Train left SFREMBERG late last night and arrived at LUCKENWALDE about 6FPM
today. Most uncomfortable journey ever. Not enough room to stretch legs so spent the night in
cramped position. Train stopped frequently during day often for 1/2 hour to 1 hour. During these
stops scrounged hot water from engine driver for brews.

Marched from station to camp (5KMS) arriving about 7 P.M. walted outside in rain for 1/2 hour and
finally taken in. Fromised a hot meal which did not materlalise. Goons insisted that all 1400 of us
should have a hot “de-lousing™ shower and a search before passing into compound. Alr-raid delayed
the proceedings somewhat, but managed along with Frank to be in first batch for showers. Following
search was very slipshod. Finally got to bed at 3AM the most uncomfortable I have ever been in. Bed-
hoards, a palllasse and very, very Httle straw.

REVIEW OF THE MARCH BY LES RUTHERFORD

It was good to get away from barbed wire for a few days. Unfortunately my shoes were a little tight on the first
day and | had a couple of blisters and a chilblain at the end of the day's tack. | wore flying boots for the rest of the
journey until the last day when it was dry and | managed to get my shoes on again. Sleeping in the barns was
rather comfortable, and after a day on the march very welcome. The weight of kit to be carried, conditions
underfoot, insufficient food and the low physical reserves of strength after 5 months on half parcels, were the
main spags. The Doc’'s main worries were, Chilblains, blisters, rheumatism and stomach troubles, the latter
particularly after the 24 hours in the cattle truck. Frank and | usually ate 2 slices of bread for breakfast, 2 slices
during the day and two in the evening. The evening slices were the big meal of the day, being spread with corned
beef or pilchards whereas the others had cheese or jam. Luckily we managed to barter bread for cigarettes en
route 5o that the bread lasted out. We usually managed two hot brews during the day. German civilians usually
good-hearted enough to bring out buckets of water for us as we passed. On the whole we had our fair share of
“hardships” and it left us in no condition to stand up to a further march particularly as we have no decent food to
build up our strength again. There are no Red Cross parcels and we live entirely on German rations which consist
of 1/5 of a loaf, 1 cup of soup, either margarine or spread enough for about 8 slices of bread — per day. Sugar s
issued at infreguent intervals and we have hot mint téa twice per day. The bread ration works out at 5 slices per
man. We also receive about 4 medium sized potatoes, boiled in their skins. So that our menu for the day is:-
Breakfast. — 1 1/2 slices bread & marg. Cup of mint tea.

Lunch — 4 potatoes, and 1 cup of soup.

Tea - 11/2 slices bread & marg Cup of mint tea

Supper — 2 slices bread & marg.

The chief pastime is to talk of food we will eat when we get home.

Every day Is so alike that no-one ever knows what day it is without thinking hard first. Almost everyone in the
camp has a cold and rheumatism [sic] coughs, colds ete., are common — a reaction from the march.

Arrived in Luckenwalde camp 4th February 1945

From Fred Hooker's memoirs 2019:

On 22 April the men woke up to discover the German guards had disappeared and a Norwegian had
been put in charge of the camp. He gave instructions that no one was to leave as the Russian forces were
approaching and very close.

On 23™ April the Russian tanks and troops arrived and drove through the centre of the camp. It was a
sight never to be forgotten with men cheering. The tanks went further to the compound where the

Russian prisoners were being held, picked them up and they travelled with the troops to Berlin.

A second group of Russian troops arrived together with women. These Russian troops treated the POW's

like prisoners with shortage of food and not being allowed out. Some did manage to escape. Several



went to the Russian compound as a cow had been killed and they hoped to be given some to cook up.
But not much luck, they were given tripe which they couldn’t eat and was horrible.

American troops came by and were willing to take some men to the American held territory 18 Kms
away. As Fred and other men were waiting by the trucks the Russian guards told the men to get out of
the trucks as they were prisoners held by the Russian forces. The Russians said they would send the men
home via Odessa. 5o they had to get off the trucks and sent back to the camp. The Americans returned
the morning and said they didn’t want to cause trouble with the Russians. Fred with others again got
into the truck but the Russians told them again to get out and fired ammunition. A message was sent
around that if anyone was fit enough to walk the 18 kms the Yanks would wait there 24 hours for those
who chose to come.

A number of men took to the woods to try to escape. They wandered around in the direction of the
American forces. They heard some shooting and waited till it stopped. Five men then decided to return
to the Russian camp. Those remaining were tired and hungry by the time they reached a village which
drew them in with the smell of freshly baked bread. Russians were in the village who took them in and
fed them mint jelly and milk and indicated they should sleep through the night, which they thankfully
did. In the morning they wished to thank the Russian men for their hospitality and saw some men
coming toward them with bikes. The POW's were not sure if it was the same men and were surprised
when the 4 bikes were handed to the POW's so they didn't have to walk the rest of the way. On their
way they came to a bridge guarded by Germans who wouldn't allow them to cross over so the POW's
made contact with the Russians. One of the bikes they had now had a flat tyre. One of the Russians here
snatched a good bike from a German lady nearby handing her the one with the flat tyre. The men made
it over the bridge and after some distance hear grenades exploding and were unsure about going further
when American forces emerged from the bushes. The POW"s put their hands up calling out English,
English and throwing their bikes on to the ground! Transport was ordered and they were taken to the
American headquarters.

For those who chose to stay when the Russian forces took over the camp, those POW s had

to stay an extra month before the Russian forces released them while Errol was already in
England by then.



Stalag I1I-A Errol’s last camp February-April 45

From Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia
Stalag 1I-A
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Stalag III-A was a German World War [ prisoner-of-war camp at Luckenwalde,
Brandenburg, 52 kilometres (32 mi) south of Berlin. Planning for the camp commenced
before the invasion of Poland. It was designed to hold 10,000 men, was the largest in the 3rd
Military District, and was considered a model for other camps

In mid-September 1939 the first Polish POWs arrived, and were housed in large 12 m (39 ft)
by 35 m (115 ft) tents, and set to work building the barrack huts before the winter set in.
Once their work was complete the Poles were relocated, the first inhabitants of the camp
were Dutch and Belgian for a brief time before being replaced by 43,000 French POWs, who
arrived in mid- 1940, remaining the largest group of prisoners until the end of the war. The
French were joined m 1941 by Yugoslav and Russian prisoners, then in late 1943 some
15,000 Italian military internees arrived, though most were quickly dispersed to other camps.
In late 1944 small numbers of American, Romanian, British and Polish prisoners arrived.
More than 200,000 prisoners passed through the Stalag I1I-A, and at its height in May 1944
there were a total of 48,600 POW registered there. However, no more than 6,000-8,000 were
ever housed at the main camp, with the rest sent out to work in forestry and industry in more
than 1,000 ("Work Companies") spread out over the entire state of Brandenburg.



The camp was generally run according to the guidelines of the Geneva Convention and the
Hapgue Regulations, and was regularly inspected by representatives of the International
Committee of the Red Cross (1CRC). Russian POWs were excluded from this on the grounds
that the USSR was not a signatory of the Geneva Convention and suffered significantly
poorer conditions as a result. Generally, treatment of prisoners depended on nationality. The
French. British and Americans were treated relatively well, while the Italians, and
particularly the Russians, suffered from the consequences of maltreatment.

[talian prisoner Michele Zotta later reported that for the first few days of his imprisonment
he slept on the ground in a small tent. As to rations, on the first day he received one kilegram
of rye bread to share with fifteen other prisoners, with some butter and jelly. From then on
the daily routine was for the Germans to distribute a bucket of potatoes to be shared between
twenty-five prisoners. However, there are also accounts that the Germans were low on food
themselves. Regardless, Stalag 11I-A remains an example of poor conduct on the part of the
Germans towards prisoners of war. In February 1945 other prisoners were evacuated to
Stalag I1I-A. adding to the already overcrowded and unhygienic conditions. Finally, as the
Russians approached the guards fled the camp leaving the prisoners to be liberated by the
Red Army on 22 April 1945,

On 22™ April 1945, as the advancing Russian forces approached, the German
guards fled from Stalag 3A camp. Dad was not keen to wait for the Russian
takeover of this camp. so he escaped from the camp into the refugee masses and
was found by American forces and sent back to England. In England, Errol was
given time in rehab before being discharged from the air force. Prior to returning
to Australia, Errol married Margaret Miller on 4™ July 1945. Margaret a 22-year-
old. had to wait for a passenger ship to become available. as ship priority in those
days was in transporting military men back from the war— there were no
commercial planes at that time. The appointed time came for Margaret to leave
England and as she stood on deck, she saw a little sparrow hopping around...
Margaret spoke to the little bird: Well little Chap, I won’t be seeing you ever
again— now that I am going to the other side of the world™!!!

Margaret sailed as a “war bride’— all expenses paid travelling via the
Suez Canal. The trip took six weeks with her first stop in Australia being
Fremantle, Western Australia before disembarking at Melbourne. Margaret was
helped and guided to the correct train to travel to Sydney where Errol was
waiting for his bride to drive her to the family home on Woodford Island, near
Maclean.
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The 1939-1945 Star is a military campaian med-

al instituted by the United Kingdom on 8 July 1943 for
award to British and Commonwealth forces for service in
the Second World War. Two clasps were instituted to be
worn on the medal ribbon, Battle of Britain and Bomber
Command =

For all overseas operational areas in World War 2- The first ina
series of eight bronze stars issued for service in the Second
World War, it was awarded to personnel who had completed six
months ' service in specified operational commands overseas, be-
tween 3rd September 1939 and 8 May 1945 (2 September 1945
in the Far East) - RAF air crew will qualify with 60 days service
in an operational unit including at least one operational sortie.

Ribbon- Equal stripes of dark blue to represent the service of the
Roval and Merchant Navies, red, to represent that of the Armies
and light blue to represent that of Air Forces- Worn with the dark
blue stripe furthest from the left shoulder. The six pointed star
has a circular centre with the GRIY] monogram, surmounted by
a crown and inscribed THE 1939-45 STAR round the foot.

Ribben bar {left) and rosettes for the Battle of Bril-
ain (centre) and Bomber Command (right) clasps

The Air Crew Europe Star is a military campaign
medal, instituted by the United  Kingdom in May
1945 for award to Brilish and Commaon-
wealth air crews who participated in operational
flights ever Europe from bases in the United King-
dom during the Second World War Z15

Awarded for operational flying from UK bases over Eu-
rope, for a period of two months between 3rd September
1939 and 4th June 1944- Entitlement to either the Atlan-
tic or France and Germany Star was denoted by the ap-
propriate clasp. This star 1s by far the most coveted of all
of the Second World War Stars.

The War Medal 1939-1945 is a campaign medal
which was instituted by the United Kingdorm on 16
August 1945, All fulltime personnel of the armed fore-
es wherever they were serving, so long as they had
served for at least 28 days between 3rd September 1939
and 2nd September 1945 were eligible for this medal.
MNarrow red stripes in the centre, with a narrow white

stripe on either side broad red stripes at either edge and
two intervening stripes of blue

Obwverse) effigy of King George V1; (reverse) a triumphant
lion trampling a dragon symbolising the Axis Powers




The Australia Service Medal 1939-
1945 recognises service in Australia's
armed forces, Mercantile Marine

and Volunteer Defence

Corps during World War [I.

[ -

Related ﬁustr'al'ian ‘:iewir:e Medal-ié-ﬁ'ﬁ;
1975, Australian Active Service Med-
al 1945-1975

The Accumulated Campaign Service Medal and the Accumulated Campaign Service Medal 2011 are medals award-
ed by Queen Elizabeth || to members of her Armed Forces to recognise long campaign service. The original Accumu-
lated Campaign Service Medal, instituted in January 1994, was awarded to holders of the General Service Medal
[1562) whao had completed 36 months of accumulated campaign service. The replacement Accumulated Campaign

Service Medal 2011 is now currently awarded to holders of various campaign service medals who have completed
720 days of campaign service.



